

Citation for published version: Mitragotri, S, Anissimov, YG, Bunge, AL, Frasch, HF, Guy, RH, Hadgraft, J, Kasting, GB, Lane, ME & Roberts, MS 2011, 'Mathematical models of skin permeability: An overview', *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, vol. 418, no. 1, pp. 115-129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2011.02.023

DOI: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2011.02.023

Publication date: 2011

Document Version Peer reviewed version

Link to publication

NOTICE: this is the author's version of a work that was accepted for publication in International Journal of Pharmaceutics. Changes resulting from the publishing process, such as peer review, editing, corrections, structural formatting, and other quality control mechanisms may not be reflected in this document. Changes may have been made to this work since it was submitted for publication. A definitive version was subsequently published in International Journal of Pharmaceutics, Vol 418, Issue 1, 2011, DOI 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2011.02.023

University of Bath

Alternative formats

If you require this document in an alternative format, please contact: openaccess@bath.ac.uk

General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

Take down policy If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Mathematical Models of Skin Permeability: An Overview

Samir Mitragotri^{1*}, Yuri G. Anissimov², Annette L. Bunge³, H. Frederick Frasch⁴, Richard

H. Guy⁵, Jonathan Hadgraft⁶, Gerald B. Kasting⁷, Majella E. Lane⁶ and Michael S. Roberts⁸

- ¹ Department of Chemical Engineering, University of California, Santa Barbara, CA 93106
- ² School of Biomolecular and Physical Sciences, Griffith University, Australia
- ³ Department of Chemical Engineering, Colorado School of Mines, Golden, CO
- ⁴ Health Effects Laboratory Division, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, Morgantown, WV
- ⁵ Department of Pharmacy and Pharmacology, University of Bath, Bath UK
- ⁶ School of Pharmacy, University of London, London, UK
- ⁷ Winkle College of Pharmacy, University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH, 45267
- ⁸ School of Medicine, University of Queensland, Brisbane & School of Pharmacy and

Medical Sciences, University of South Australia, Adelaide, AU

^{*} Send editorial correspondence to: Professor Samir Mitragotri, Department of Chemical Engineering, University of California, Santa Barbara, CA 93106, Phone: 805-893-7532, Fax: 805-893-4731, Email: samir@engineering.ucsb.edu

Abstract

Mathematical models of skin permeability play an important role in various fields including prediction of transdermal drug delivery and assessment of dermal exposure to industrial chemicals. Extensive research has been performed over the last several decades to yield predictions of skin permeability to various molecules. These efforts include the development of empirical approaches such as quantitative structure-permeability relationships and porous pathway theories as well as the establishment of rigorous structure-based models. In addition to establishing the necessary mathematical framework to describe these models, efforts have also been dedicated to determining the key parameters that are required to use these models. This article provides an overview of various modeling approaches with respect to their advantages, limitations and future prospects.

Key words: Transdermal, Stratum corneum, Permeability, Model, Theory. Mathematical, Exposure assessment

Table of Contents

1. Introduction

2. Steady-state models

- 2.1. QSPR
- 2.2. Structure-based models
- 2.3 Porous pathway model

3. Transient Models

- 3.1. Basic models
- 3.2. Compartmental models
- 3.3. Complex models

4. Estimation of parameters

- 4.1. Partition coefficient
- 4.2. Diffusion coefficient
- 4.3. Diffusion path length

5. Mathematical approaches

- 5.1. Laplace Transforms
- 5.2. Finite Differences
- 5.3. Finite Elements
- 5.4. Random Walk
- 5.5. Exposure assessment

6. Summary and Outlook

1. INTRODUCTION

Mathematical models of skin permeability are highly relevant to the fields of transdermal drug delivery, assessment of dermal exposure to industrial and environmental hazards as well as in developing fundamental understanding of biotransport processes. The impact of such models on transdermal drug delivery has been particularly significant. Transdermal delivery provides an appealing alternative to other modes of drug administration. Transdermal patches, introduced first in the United States in 1979 for scopolamine delivery, are now available for a total of 19 drugs. Between 2003 and 2007, new transdermal delivery systems were introduced at a remarkable pace; one every 7.5 months (Prausnitz & Langer 2008). Expanding the scope of transdermal drug delivery to a wide range of drugs, however, has proved to be a significant challenge. Skin has evolved to provide a highly effective barrier for the permeation of xenobiotics and loss of water (Scheuplein & Blank 1971b). This has made it very challenging to deliver drugs across the skin. The outermost layer of skin, the stratum corneum (SC), is primarily composed of terminally differentiated keratinocytes (corneocytes) embedded in lipid layers (Elias 1983). The unique organization of the SC, in particular its lipid components, offers a substantial barrier to drug delivery and absorption of toxic substances (Potts et al 1991).

While major advances in our understanding of the fundamental mechanisms underlying skin permeation have been made in the past 70 years, topical and transdermal drug delivery has been practiced since ancient times. The Ebers papyrus, dating to 1550 B.C., offers numerous remedies and formulations for the management of skin conditions (Bryan 1930.). There are also reports of "flying ointment" in the historical literature where preparations containing

hallucinogenic substances were formulated in lipophilic bases (Rudgley 1993.). Such preparations were intended to be applied on a broomstick held between the legs, indicating an early knowledge of the importance of the formulation, site variation in permeability and the ability to achieve systemic effects using preparations applied to the skin.

The foundations of predictive modeling of transdermal and topical delivery were laid in the 1940's to 1970's. During this time it was recognized that partitioning and solubility were important factors that determine skin penetration. In the early 40's Rothman identified the importance of the physicochemical properties of the permeant such as solubility and the critical influence of the vehicle on permeation (Rothman 1943). In the mid 1950's Hadgraft and Somers observed that solutes with a balanced partition coefficient, that is, those that possess a log [octanol-water partition coefficient, P] between 1 and 3 are associated with optimum skin permeation (Hadgraft & Somers 1956). In the 1950's and 1960's efforts to understand how the skin permeation process could be predicted in a systematic manner were largely driven by the chemical defense industry (Treherne 1956; Tregear 1966.).

With the recognition that the transport processes in skin can be described by Fick's first law, Higuchi derived mathematical models that describe percutaneous absorption as a passive diffusion process in the vehicle and the membrane layers in series (Higuchi 1960). Using basic physicochemical principles, his seminal contributions also demonstrated the importance of the thermodynamic activity of the penetrating agent in permeation. Higuchi then built upon this model to lead to another seminal paper, published in 1961, entitled "Rate of release of medicaments from ointment bases containing drugs in suspension". This paper provided an elegant set of equations to describe the rate of release of drugs from an ointment (Higuchi 1961). The resultant equations, which describe fundamental relationships between release rates, drug concentrations, diffusion coefficients and lag times, lay the foundation of the modern theories of skin permeation. The role of physical chemistry in the percutaneous absorption process was further emphasized by Blank and Scheuplein (Blank 1965; Blank et al 1967; Blank 1967; Scheuplein et al 1969; Scheuplein & Blank 1971a). Since then, a large number of efforts have been dedicated to describe various aspects of skin permeation. These models vary tremendously in scope, ranging from simple models that consider the SC (or sometimes the entire skin) as a single compartment to those that explicitly consider the structural complexity of the skin (e.g., the lipids, the corneocytes, or the keratin within the corneocytes).

This review summarizes the key developments in predictive modeling of skin permeation over the last 50 years and also looks to the future so that such approaches are effectively harnessed for the development of better topical and transdermal formulations and for improved assessment of skin exposure to toxic chemicals.

2. STEADY-STATE MODELS

The fundamental equation to describe skin transport under steady-state conditions when a skin membrane is exposed to a solute on one side can be given by Fick's first law. It simply relates the amount of solute, Q, crossing the skin membrane of area, A, over a time period, T, with the constant concentration gradient across the two interior surfaces of the skin, ΔC_s , the diffusion coefficient in the skin membrane, D, and the path length, h, as follows:

$$Q = DAT \Delta C_{s} / h$$
[1]

The fundamental assumptions of Eq. 1 are that the skin barrier, SC, behaves like a pseudohomogenous membrane, and that its barrier properties do not vary with time or position. It is important to recognize that steady state can only be reached after the lag time for solute diffusion, which, for diffusion across a homogenous membrane is given by $h^2/6D$, has passed. The lag time can be estimated from the x-intercept of the linear portion of the plot depicting cumulative solute permeation as a function of time. Equation 1 is frequently expressed in terms of steady-state skin flux, J_{ss} , defined as:

$$J_{ss} = Q/(AT) = D\Delta C_s/h$$
[2]

Higuchi, in his forward looking article, expressed this flux more appropriately in terms of thermodynamic activity a_s rather than widely used concentration approximation (Higuchi 1960). Clearly, the maximum flux, J_{max} , will be seen when maximum solubility S_s of a solute in the SC is achieved, so that Eq. 2 can be written as:

$$J_{max} = DS_s / h$$
[3]

The thermodynamic activity for any given solute is generally defined by the fractional solubility of the solute in the skin (C_s/S_s). However, nonlinearity can arise as a result of solute-skin and solute-vehicle non-ideal interactions (Roberts MS 2002). In practice, such non-idealities are less likely at lower concentrations and it is more convenient to express concentrations in terms of the solute concentration in the vehicle (C_v) and a partition coefficient, *K*, of the solute between the skin and the vehicle as follows:

$$J_{ss} = KD \Delta C_{v} / h$$
[4]

Where $K = C_s/C_v$. In this section, we apply and further develop these principles to demonstrate the predictive value of mathematical models of skin permeability in defining the absorption of therapeutic and toxic compounds through the skin.

2.1 Quantitative structure-permeation relationship (QSPR) models

Since the ground-breaking work of Scheuplein and Blank (Blank et al 1967; Blank 1967; Scheuplein 1967; Scheuplein & Blank 1971b), who were the first to properly quantify the rate and extent of percutaneous absorption of diverse chemicals, mainly from aqueous solutions, considerable efforts have been devoted to the establishment of relationships between the molecular properties of solutes and skin permeation (Geinoz et al 2004). The objectives of such work have been broad, ranging, for example, from the identification and screening of potential drug candidates for transdermal delivery (Hadgraft 2003) to the assessment of potential risk following dermal exposure to hazardous chemicals, such as pesticides (Bouwman et al 2008).

The main focus of quantitative structure-permeation relationships (QSPRs) has been the assessment of a permeability coefficient (usually designated by k_p) which is defined as the steady-state flux of chemical across the skin (J_{ss}) normalized by the concentration gradient, ΔC_v :

$$k_p = \frac{J_{ss}}{\Delta C_v}$$
[5]

Often the concentration of the chemical is essentially zero on one side of the skin and k_p is then the ratio of J_{ss} and C_v . By describing the skin as a single pseudo-homogenous membrane, it can be easily shown from Eq. 5 that k_p is defined as (Crank 1975):

$$k_p = \frac{K \cdot D}{h} \tag{6}$$

By assuming that the SC is the rate limiting barrier, which is often the case, and by using h as the thickness of the SC, then K and D in Eq. 6 describe the partitioning and diffusion in the SC treated as a pseudo-homogeneous membrane.

Knowledge of k_p , coupled with the chemical's saturation solubility in the vehicle in which it contacts the skin ($C_{v,sat}$), permits an estimation of the maximum flux (J_{max}) of the molecule across the barrier:

$$J_{\max} = k_p \cdot C_{\nu,sat}$$
 [7]

When applying Eq. 7, it is important to note that k_p and $C_{v,sat}$ must be determined in the same vehicle; one cannot combine an aqueous k_p with a non aqueous $C_{v,sat}$. Clearly, J_{max} is an inherently more useful and practical parameter when evaluating the potential therapeutic benefit or toxicological risk of a topically or transdermally absorbed substance (Kroes 2007).

The vast majority of QSPR models provide algorithms to calculate k_p when the vehicle is assumed to be aqueous. This has happened for two principal reasons: First, over time, a substantial database of experimentally determined k_p values from aqueous vehicles has built up, allowing theoretical predictions to be directly compared with real measurements. Second, a physicochemical parameter that enables estimation of *K* is likely to be necessary for utilizing any algorithm developed for the calculation of k_p . The most obvious candidate in this regard is the octanol-water partition coefficient, *P*, values of which for many thousands of chemicals are available in the literature (or readily calculable using any number of approaches) (Leo et al 1971; Sangster 2010). A combination of Eqs. 6 and 7 gives a more fundamental definition of J_{max} based on the permeant's solubility and diffusion coefficient in the SC:

$$J_{\max} = \frac{D}{h} \cdot C_{SC,sat}$$
[8]

The limitation of Eq. 8 is that D/h and $C_{SC,sat}$ are not easily determined by experiment. Instead, Kasting *et al.* (Kasting 1992) provided two insightful steps to render the expression much more useful. First, it was proposed that $C_{SC,sat}$ might either be calculable from ideal solution theory, or estimated from the saturation concentration in model lipid solvents that mimic the SC, such as octanol or isopropyl myristate (C_{org}). Second, given that the lipids of the SC are highly ordered, the diffusional barrier was treated as a semisolid, like a polymeric membrane. Molecular transport was then considered to proceed via a 'free volume' mechanism, permitting the SC diffusivity to be modeled by Eq. 9 (Potts & Guy 1992):

$$D = D_0 \cdot \exp(-\beta \cdot V)$$
[9]

where V is the molecular volume of the permeant, and D_0 and β are constants. With these modifications, Eqs. 8 and 9 could then be combined to produce a QSPR (Eq. 10) that is in good general agreement with experimental results (**Figure 1**)(Cooper 1987).

$$\log(J_{max}/C_{org}) = \log(D_0/h) - [\beta \cdot V/2.303]$$
[10]

Potts and Guy (Potts & Guy 1992) built upon this line of thinking and combined Eqs. 6 and 9 to give an expression for k_p as follows:

$$\log k_{p} = \log(D_{0} / h) + \log K - [\beta \cdot V / 2.303]$$
[11]

which they then wrote more generally as:

$$\log k_p = a + b \cdot \log P - c \cdot MW$$
[12]



Figure 1: Experimentally determined maximum fluxes of chemicals normalized by their respective octanol solubilities plotted as a function of molecular volume (redrawn from (Cooper 1987)).

Key assumptions made while deriving Eq. 12 are that the SC-water partition coefficient could be replaced by a function of P and that molecular volume could be approximated by the chemical's MW (Potts & Guy 1992). Values of P are available for many thousands of chemicals in the literature or can be readily estimated using a number of approaches (Leo et al 1971). Potts and Guy then took advantage of a large compilation of published skin permeability coefficients from aqueous solution (Flynn 1990) to generate a QSPR that is now the most cited and applied QSPR model for predicting skin permeability:

$$logk_{p} = -6.3 + 0.71 logP - 0.0061 MW$$
 [13]

where the units of k_p are cm·s⁻¹. The experimental values used to derive Eq. 13 encompassed chemicals with *MWs* ranging from 18 to over 750 and *log P* values from -3 to +6. The r^2 of the multiple regression was 0.67 suggesting that approximately two thirds of the variability in the data was explained by the model. In writing Eq. 13, the rate-limiting transport barrier of the skin is implicitly assigned to the lipophilic SC and, as a result, it will generate unfeasible values of k_p for compounds that are extremely lipophilic. Acknowledging that the percutaneous absorption of such molecules is controlled by the underlying, more-aqueous-in-nature, viable epidermis (as had been deduced much earlier (Michaels et al 1975)), Cleek and Bunge (Cleek & Bunge 1993) derived an expression for estimating k_p that places an upper limit for highly lipophilic species:

$$k_p^{adj} = \frac{k_p}{1 + \left(1400 \cdot k_p \cdot \sqrt{MW}\right)}$$
[14]

where k_p is the permeability coefficient predicted by QSPRs for the SC from a water vehicle (with units of cm s⁻¹); for example, from Eq. 13. Comparison between experimental percutaneous absorption fluxes and those calculated using the Potts and Guy algorithm and the Cleek and Bunge adjustment is illustrated for 14 compounds in **Figure 2** (Guy 2010).

Several QSPRs have been proposed that build on the form of Eq. 13 (Abraham et al 1997; Abraham et al 1999). For example, the partition coefficient, *K*, can be more explicitly represented in terms of the compound's molecular volume, polarisability, hydrogen bond donor and acceptor activities and molar refractivity. Incorporating such additional sophistication can result in improved fits of the model to (typically) more limited datasets (Potts & Guy 1995). Additionally, QSPR equations with complicated molecular structure descriptors offer the potential for better mechanistic understanding. However, some of the literature k_p values used in these regressions may be anomalous (Degim 1998) or inconsistent with measurements from other laboratories (Vecchia & Bunge 2002b). Also, the ionization state of the compound in the

aqueous solution often is unclear, which will impact the permeability coefficient (k_p) calculated from the flux data. When these factors are combined with the inherent variability in experimental measurements of skin permeation (Southwell 1994), especially for those chemicals that penetrate poorly (typically molecules with low lipophilicity and/or high *MW*), the introduction of more complicated molecular structure descriptors often cannot be justified from a statistical point of view. Moreover, regression to more complex models may provide misleading mechanistic insight and over-interpretation of the data (Geinoz et al 2004).

Periodically, several of the published QSPRs have been comprehensively reviewed (Lian et al 2008). A detailed examination of 33 QSPRs was conducted in 2008 (Bouwman et al 2008) using a set of defined criteria for acceptability, which was met by four models (ten Berge ; McKone 1992; Moss & Cronin 2002; Magnusson et al 2004b); three of these were based upon the octanol-water partition and molecular weight. Notably, the substitution of *MW* for *V* in QSPR equations succeeds because *MW/V* is nearly constant (at approximately 0.9 g/mL) for most compounds (mostly hydrocarbons) in the databases used to develop the various QSPR equations (Vecchia & Bunge 2002b). However, using these QSPR equations for chemicals with significantly larger *MW/V* (e.g., halogenated chemicals) produces k_p estimates that are systematically low, but can be readily improved by adjusting the *MW* by the liquid density divided by 0.9 g/mL (Vecchia & Bunge 2002b). For example, using the adjusted *MW* of 63 for dibromomethane in (*MW* = 174, specific gravity = 2.497) in the QSPR equations provided better k_p estimates.



Figure 2: Comparison between experimental J_{max} values of various chemicals and those predicted using the Potts and Guy algorithm (Eq. 13) and corrected with the Cleek and Bunge equation (Eq. 14). The ratios of measured to theoretical values fall within the range 0.13 to 4.49; that is, well within an order of magnitude of the 'ideal' value of 1 (Guy 2010).

While a majority of QSPR models try to predict k_p , it is the J_{max} that is a more practically relevant parameter. It can be estimated using experimental values of the aqueous saturation concentration along with k_p calculated from a QSPR model for an aqueous vehicle. Alternatively, a quantitative structure-activity model can be used to predict values for $C_{v,sat}$ that are used in Eq. 7. Using a third strategy, Magnusson *et al.* developed a QSPR model for J_{max} , rather than k_p . (Magnusson et al 2004a) Interestingly, in this approach log *P* becomes a less significant parameter compared to that in k_p -based QSPR models, and *MW* alone is sufficient to describe the bulk of the chemical-specific variation in the data. In later work, Zhang *et al.* showed that J_{max} does show a parabolic, or even better, a bilinear relationship with lipophilicity for similar sized solutes (Zhang et al 2009). They showed that the relationship reflected the variation in stratum corneum solubility for the various solutes and that the diffusion constant was relatively constant across the series.

Research into the development of improved QSPRs continues. The strategies employed have sometimes been quite novel, and have brought new tools to bear on the problem. Such approaches include chemical structure-based approaches, for example, fragment descriptor and neural network-based modeling approaches using large pools of theoretical molecular descriptors (Katritzky et al 2006; Baert et al 2007; Luo et al 2007; Neely et al 2009), ensemble modeling using nearest-neighbor theories (Neumann et al 2006), topostructural, topochemical, shape and/or quantum mechanical indices (Basak et al 2007) and Gaussian process models (Lam et al 2010). Such approaches, though novel, have yet to find significant, "real-world" application.

While acknowledging that QSPRs are of enormous benefit, it must be realized that they have certain limitations. Perhaps most notably, they cannot be used when formulation components modulate the barrier properties of the skin. Extrapolation of the predictions from simple aqueous solutions to complex multi-component and/or multiphasic formulations is elusive and may be unachievable in some cases, although strategies that utilize experimental measurements of partial pressure (or other measures of thermodynamic activity) combined with maximum flux estimates show promise (Kurihara-Bergstrom et al 1986; Frasch 2010).

2.2. Structure-based models

15

Steady-state solute flux across the SC can be described by Eq. 2. This equation adequately describes diffusion across a homogeneous medium. Hence, as long as the corresponding parameters (diffusion coefficient, partition coefficient and diffusion length) are averaged over the entire SC and the microtransport processes within the SC are rapid compared to diffusion across the membrane (Brenner & Edwards 1993), Eq. 2 adequately describes permeation across the SC. In reality however, the structural heterogeneity of the SC and the likely presence of slow reversible binding phenomena make it immediately clear that such averaging, in spite of offering mathematical simplicity, does not always accurately represent the diffusion process in the SC. Accordingly, efforts have been put forth to account for the structural complexity of skin.

The SC consists of several layers of corneocytes (the bricks) with the space between them filled with lipids (the mortar), organized in the bilayer form. In one extreme scenario, it is assumed that the solute diffuses exclusively through the lipid region of the SC, which is the only continuous phase in the SC. This assumption is particularly applicable for highly lipophilic compounds, which partition almost completely into the lipid regions of the SC. Initial efforts to account for structural details of skin using mechanistic "brick-and-mortar" models were described by (Chandrasekaran et al 1978). Since lipids occupy only a small fraction of the SC area, the actual area available for diffusion is much smaller than the macroscopic skin area. Furthermore, permeants have to follow a tortuous path around the corneocytes to cross the SC (Figure 3). Taking this into consideration, the steady-state permeability of the SC can be expressed as follows:

$$k_p = \frac{\alpha D_{lip} K_{lip}}{h_{lip}}$$
[15]

where, D_{lip} is the solute diffusion coefficients in the SC lipid bilayers, K_{lip} is the solute partition coefficient between the SC lipid bilayers and the vehicle and h_{lip} is the effective diffusion path length of the permeant in the SC lipids, which is longer than the actual thickness of the SC and α accounts for the fact that only a small fraction of the SC is occupied by lipids. The challenge is now shifted to determination of the parameters in Eq. 16. Numerous efforts have been dedicated towards this goal. A summary of these efforts is provided in section 4.



Figure 3. Schematic diagram for a brick-and-mortar model of the SC redrawn from (Johnson et al 1997a). Key model parameters are the corneocyte aspect ratio, $\alpha = d/t$; the lipid/corneocyte thickness ratio, $\beta = g/t$; and the offset ratio, $\omega = d/d_s$.

In reality, however, solutes may be able to enter the corneocytes and their diffusion through the corneocytes may contribute substantially to the overall permeation. Models have also been developed to allow solute diffusion through corneocytes (Nitsche et al 2006b; Wang et al 2006b; Wang et al 2007). These models, however, add considerable complexity to the calculation. They require additional parameters including diffusion and partition coefficients in the corneocytes, diffusion path length in corneocytes and mass transfer rate from lipids into corneocytes. Addition of this complexity to the model is justified when diffusion through conrnocytes contributes substantially to the overall permeability of the SC. In principle, the possibility of solute penetration into corneocytes can be incorporated into the model by using a generalized equation to describe SC permeability as follows:

$$k_p = \frac{D_{SC}K_{SC}}{h_{SC}}$$
[16]

where, D_{SC} is the average diffusion coefficient in the SC, K_{SC} is the average partition coefficient in the SC and h_{SC} is the average diffusion path length in the SC. This simplification again requires that the premises of effective medium theory are satisfied, notably that the microtransport and binding processes are much more rapid than macroscopic diffusion. Structural features of the SC can then be incorporated into the model by determining K_{SC} as the spatially-averaged value of partition coefficient in lipids and corneocytes (discussed in section 4). This, in combination with appropriate solution of the microtransport problem (also discussed in section 4) provides a numerical value of k_p from which an effective value of D_{SC} can be calculated. Wang *et al.* provided such an algorithm to determine the magnitude of the contribution offered by solute penetration into the corneocytes (Wang et al 2006b).

2.3. Porous Pathway model

In general, equations based on permeation through lipids adequately describe the permeation of lipophilic drugs across the SC; however, their applicability to hydrophilic drugs may be inappropriate. Accordingly, attempts have been made to develop models to describe the transport of hydrophilic molecules. Similar attempts made by virtue of the QSPRs were described in section 2.1. Here, we describe additional considerations.

Appendages (hair follicles and sweat ducts) are a likely pathway for permeation of hydrophilic solutes. Analysis of solute permeation through appendages has been reviewed in the literature (Meidan et al 2005) and is not discussed in detail here. However, appendages are unlikely to explain the entire transdermal transport of hydrophilic solutes. The average density of hair follicles in human skin is about 50-100 per cm² (Walters & Roberts 202; Scheuplein & Blank 1971b) and the area fraction occupied by the follicles is about ~10⁻³. The majority of hair follicle area is occupied by the hair shaft. The sweat glands occupy an area fraction of about 10^{-4} (number density of 100-200 per cm²). Assuming a solute diffusion coefficient through appendages to skin permeability is of the order of 10^{-6} cm/hr (Simmonin 1995). However, many hydrophilic solutes permeate skin at a much faster rate (Mitragotri 2003a).

Ghanem and Peck introduced a model termed as porous pathway model to address this challenge (Peck et al 1994b). Several studies have subsequently built upon this model (Hatanaka et al 1990; Kim et al 1992; Morimoto et al 1992; Ruddy & Hadzija 1992; Dinh et al 1993; Yoshida & Roberts 1993; Peck et al 1994a; Lai & Roberts 1998, 1999). The general expression for permeability based on the porous pathway, k_p of a hydrophilic permeant is given by:

$$k_p = \frac{\varepsilon D_p^{pore}}{\tau \Delta x}$$
[17]

where ε , τ , and Δx are the porosity, tortuosity, and thickness of the membrane, respectively, and D_p^{pore} is the diffusion coefficient of the permeant in the liquid-filled pores within the membrane. According to the hindered transport theory, D_p^{pore} is a function of both the permeant and the membrane characteristics. D_p^{pore} was expressed as a product of the permeant diffusion coefficient at infinite dilution and permeant diffusion hindrance factor (Tang et al 2001a), which depends on the pore size. A number of reports of estimated pore size can be found in literature, all of which are based on hydrodynamic hindered transport theory (Deen 1987). Pore radii reported by various researchers typically range from 10-30 Å (Ruddy & Hadzija 1992; Yoshida & Roberts 1992; Dinh et al 1993; Yoshida & Roberts 1993; Peck et al 1994a; Li et al 1997; Higuchi et al 1999; Manabe et al 2000; Tang et al 2001b; Tezel et al 2002; Polat et al 2010; Polat et al 2011). Tezel et al. reported that the pore size has a distribution and more than 99% pores possessed a radius smaller than 100 Å (Tezel et al 2003). A few estimates of SC porosity and pore density have been reported in the literature, all of which are based on model calculations and range from 10^7 - 10^9 pores cm⁻² (Pikal 1990; Kontturi & Murtomaki 1994; Mitragotri 2003b). The resultant simplified, approximate equation describing skin permeability to small hydrophilic solutes based on porous pathway theory can be given by the following:

$$k_P \approx 1.2 \times 10^{-2} \exp(-1.5r)$$
 [18]

where, r is solute radius in Angstroms and k_p is in cm/hr. Incorporation of porous pathway to describe transient permeation through skin has also been performed (Kushner et al 2007). In spite of success in describing the permeability of highly hydrophilic solutes, the use of the porous pathway theory to describe solute permeation has proved controversial largely due to lack of a connection between pores and skin structure. Specifically, relationships between estimated pore radii and pore densities and skin morphology have not been demonstrated.

3. TRANSIENT MODELS

The previous section emphasized steady state permeability across a membrane beyond the diffusion lag time (Eq. 2). In this section, we examine the time dependency of skin penetration and the various models used to describe them.

3.1. Basic models

The fundamental equation describing transient drug diffusion across the SC is given by Fick's second law as follows:

$$\frac{\partial C}{\partial t} = D \frac{\partial^2 C}{\partial x^2}$$
[19]

where *C* is the concentration of the permeating solute at time *t* at depth *x* within the skin. Key assumptions of Eq. 19 that are (a) the SC behaves like a pseudo-homogenous membrane, and (b) the diffusion coefficient and partition coefficient do not vary with time or position. To solve Eq. 19, the starting concentration *C* within the SC as well as the conditions for concentration or flux at the boundaries of the SC (i.e., at the outermost and inner most surfaces of the SC) must be specified. It is more convenient to modify Eq. 19 in terms of concentrations in the vehicle, as defined by a partition coefficient *K* of the solute between the skin and the vehicle. Accordingly, the partition coefficient *K*, which is absent in Eq. 19, will usually appear in one or both of the boundary conditions. Different solutions are obtained for different starting values of *C* and the boundary conditions. The parameters such as *D* and *K* required to solve Eq. 19 are generally the same as those discussed in section 2.2 and are discussed in section 4. Mathematical challenges associate with finding solutions are discussed in section 5.

3.2 Compartment models

Compartment models, also called pharmacokinetic (PK) models of skin, are often used to study the fate of chemicals entering and leaving the body. In combination with pharmacodynamic models relating concentration to the desired health effect, these PK models are potentially useful tools for risk assessments and predictions of transdermal drug delivery. These models treat the skin and also the body as one or several well-stirred compartments of uniform (average) concentration that act as reactors and/or reservoirs of chemical storage with transfer between the compartments depicted by first-order rate constant expressions. While permeation across the skin can be described using Eq. 19, it is often represented in a PK model as either a series of compartments to mimic the partitioning and diffusion processes in the stratum corneum or as one compartment and two compartments that separately distinguish the lipophilic SC and hydrophilic viable epidermis layers of the skin (Roberts & Anissimov 2005). A differential mass balance of chemical in the one-compartment skin layer produces the following equation:

$$V_{\rm skin} \frac{\mathrm{d}\langle C_{\rm skin} \rangle}{\mathrm{d}t} = k_1 C_{\rm v} - k_{-1} \langle C_{\rm skin} \rangle - k_2 \langle C_{\rm skin} \rangle + k_{-2} C_{\rm b}$$
[20]

where $\langle C_{skin} \rangle$ is the position-averaged drug concentration in the skin layer, V_{skin} is the volume of the skin layer, and k_j (j = 1, -1, 2 and -2) are the rate constants describing drug transfer between the vehicle, skin and blood compartments. Variations of the concentration in the vehicle (C_v) and the concentration in the blood (C_b) are described by mass balances for these compartments including links to additional compartments representing the various tissues and metabolic process in the body. The two-compartment model of skin is given by:

$$V_{\rm sc} \frac{\mathrm{d}\langle C_{\rm sc} \rangle}{\mathrm{d}t} = k_1 C_{\rm v} - k_{-1} \langle C_{\rm sc} \rangle - k_2 \langle C_{\rm sc} \rangle + k_{-2} \langle C_{\rm ve} \rangle$$
[21]

$$V_{\rm ve} \frac{\mathrm{d}\langle C_{\rm ve} \rangle}{\mathrm{d}t} = k_2 \langle C_{\rm sc} \rangle - k_{-2} \langle C_{\rm ve} \rangle - k_3 \langle C_{\rm ve} \rangle + k_{-3} C_{\rm b}$$
[22]

where $\langle C_{sc} \rangle$ and $\langle C_{ve} \rangle$ are the position averaged concentrations in the SC and viable epidermis, respectively.

The advantage of using compartment models for skin is that the mathematical solution of even complex exposure situations (e.g., periodic exposures and evaporating solutions) combined with variable distribution and metabolism in and elimination from the body as well as variations in blood flow to the skin are represented by first-order differential equations that are easily solved by a number of standard software packages. These models are also simple enough to conduct probabilistic calculations allowing an assessment of the effects of variation in the system parameters.

In many papers with skin compartment models, the rate constants describing transfer to and from the skin compartment(s) have been determined by fitting to experimental data without relating the result to the parameters of skin (e.g., k_p , D, K, and h). Because variations of concentration with position are not described by compartment models, they cannot match all aspects of the behavior predicted by Fick's second law for a membrane with the same physical properties. It follows that different definitions of rate constants in terms of the skin parameters can be developed that match the behavior of the membrane model for different conditions (McCarley & Bunge 1998; Reddy et al 1998; McCarley & Bunge 2000). In a review of several one- and two-compartment models with rate constants expressed in terms of skin parameters, McCarley and Bunge have identified the underlying assumptions (including specified methods for estimating input parameters), and discussed how these affect the model's performance (McCarley & Bunge 2001). Recently, the effect of the compartment model definitions on dermal absorption prediction was assessed by comparing model predictions with *in vivo* human experiments in which skin absorption of chloroform was determined from breath concentrations (Norman et al 2008).

3.3 Complex models

While most attention in the field of modeling of skin permeation has been focused on describing diffusion processes in the SC, it has been recognized that additional processes including binding and metabolism (Liu et al 1994) also play an important role in determining drug uptake. Binding is especially significant since many substances bind to keratin, which significantly influences their permeation across the SC.

Slow binding/partitioning kinetics in the SC

The effect of binding on transdermal transport in the context of the epidermal penetration has been discussed by Roberts *et al* (Roberts et al 2002), where the kinetics associated with the reservoir effect of the stratum corneum was considered. It was assumed in this work that binding is instantaneous, that is equilibration between bound and unbound states is fast compared to diffusion. The advantage of such an approach is that the modeling in this case is relatively simple with the diffusion coefficient (*D*) in the diffusion equation being replaced by an effective diffusion coefficient (D_{eff}), where $D_{eff}=f_uD$ and f_u is the fraction of solute unbound. As the fraction unbound is less than unity, binding leads to slower diffusion, and therefore longer lag times. If binding/partitioning is not fast compared to diffusion, the single diffusion equation has to be replaced by coupled partial differential equations: (Anissimov & Roberts 2009a)

$$\frac{\partial C_u}{\partial t} = D \frac{\partial^2 C_u}{\partial x^2} - k_{on} C_u + k_{off} C_b$$
[23]

$$\frac{\partial C_b}{\partial t} = k_{on} C_u - k_{off} C_b$$
[24]

where C_b and C_u are concentrations of bound and unbound solutes, D is the diffusion coefficient of the unbound solute (bound solute is assumed immobile, or its diffusion is so slow that it can be neglected) and k_{on} and k_{off} are binding and unbinding rate constants. Taking Laplace transform of these equations and expression of \hat{C}_b using \hat{C}_u yields:

$$D\frac{d^{2}\hat{C}_{u}}{dx^{2}} = \left(s + \frac{sk_{on}}{s + k_{off}}\right)\hat{C}_{u}$$
[25]

It can be noted that the only difference with the simple diffusion equation in the Laplace domain is that s is replaced by a function g(s), where;

$$g(s) = s + \frac{sk_{on}}{s + k_{off}}$$
[26]

Thus equations for the unbound concentration and flux through SC can be obtained by replacing s with g(s) in the above equations. It has been demonstrated (Anissimov & Roberts 2009a) that modeling of penetration experiment is less affected by slow equilibration as compared with that of the desorption experiments. It is also reasonable to assume that experiments with finite donor doses will be significantly affected by slow equilibration, as later stages of the finite donor experiments resemble desorption processes. The slow equilibration in the SC has a pronounced effect in skin reservoir formation and needs further experimental investigation.

Using a physical model approach, Ando and co-workers developed equations to describe situations where simultaneous metabolism and transport of drugs occur in the skin (Ando et al 1977). Two situations were investigated. In the first situation, the drug was placed on the dermis side of a diffusion cell and did not penetrate the stratum corneum. In the second situation, the drug, placed on the epidermis side, penetrated the stratum corneum and then passed through the metabolizing epidermis. Expressions for determining the metabolic rate constant from experimental data along with concentration profiles and flux expressions were derived both for the drug and its metabolite. A model which required computer simulation and which incorporated non-uniform enzyme distributions, as well as composite membranes with many layers was later developed by the same group (Fox 1979).

These models did not consider metabolism in the stratum corneum but mathematical expressions derived by Hadgraft (Hadgraft 1980b) using an idealized physical model, took into account metabolism both in the upper and lower layers of the epidermis. Two routes of penetration were considered, firstly when the drug diffuses straight through the cells and secondly when the substrate passes through the intercellular channels. Hadgraft and Guy expanded the earlier physical model approach described by Hadgraft to incorporate Michaelis-Menten kinetics (Guy & Hadgraft 1982).

Liu and co-workers described a theoretical model to predict permeant transport across the skin for the situations in which there is significant co-transport of an enhancer solvent along with the principal permeant (Liu P 1992). The model successfully predicted the effects of

simultaneous transport of ethanol on metabolism and diffusion of β -estradiol in hairless mouse skin. Bando et al. developed a two-layer diffusion model which incorporates both polar and nonpolar pathways and where metabolism in the viable layer was considered (Bando H 1996; Bando H 1997). Assuming first order metabolism kinetics, Laplace transformed equations were obtained to describe skin permeation of drug and metabolite.

Kretsos et al. developed a distributed diffusion-clearance model to take account of the spatial distribution of the vascular processes responsible for drug removal by the dermis (Kretsos et al 2004). This model quantifies molecular diffusion through the heterogeneous skin microstructure of the skin and characterizes vascular clearance as a volume-average clearance coefficient. More recently, a microscopic model describing the dermal capillary clearance process was described by Kretsos and Kasting (Kretsos & Kasting 2007). The model accounts for both convective-dominated transport in the capillaries as well as interstitial diffusion and the model was validated with published results for *in vivo* human skin permeation of hydrocortisone.

4. ESTIMATION OF PARAMETERS

A major issue in quantifying skin penetration and utilization of the models described in section 3 is the assessment of the key parameters defining skin permeability, namely partition coefficient, diffusion coefficient and diffusion path length. In this section, we discuss estimation of parameters that are necessary to predict skin permeability. As can be seen from the discussion so far, the required number of parameters may vary depending on the complexity of the model.

Here, we focus on three key parameters that are most commonly required to predict skin permeability, that is, partition coefficient, diffusion coefficient and path length.

4.1. Partition Coefficient

Diffusion through skin involves partitioning between multiple phases; e.g. between the SC lipids and the vehicle, the corneocytes and the vehicle, between the lipids and the corneocytes, and between the SC and deeper skin layers (e.g., the viable epidermis). In simple models describing partitioning into the SC from a vehicle, the multiphasic details of the SC are ignored, and the effective partition coefficient between the SC and the vehicle ($K_{sc/v}$) is estimated from structureactivity algorithms relating experimental measurements of $K_{sc/v}$ to one or more descriptors, *logP* being the most common (for example, see (Cleek & Bunge 1993; Roberts et al 1996) (Surber et al 1990a; Surber et al 1990b)) and the review by (Vecchia & Bunge 2002a):

$$K_{sc/v} = aP^{b}$$
^[27]

Typically, *a* has been reported to be close to 1, while *b* varies from about 0.4 to 0.9 depending on the data set used in the regression. As for the QSPR, the partition coefficient can be represented in terms of more complicated molecular structure descriptors with modest benefit (Vecchia & Bunge 2002a).

Expressions for estimating $K_{sc/v}$ have also been derived that consider the individual contributions of the lipid and corneocytes (Nitsche et al 2006b).

$$K_{sc/\nu} = \phi_{lip} K_{lip/\nu} + \phi_{cor} K_{cor/\nu}$$
[28]

where $K_{lip/v}$ is the lipid-vehicle partition coefficient, $K_{cor/v}$ is the corneocyte-vehicle partition coefficient, and ϕ_{lip} and ϕ_{cor} are the volume fractions of lipid and corneocytes, respectively in the SC, which together sum to 1. In this approach, expressions are then required for $K_{lip/v}$ and $K_{cor/v}$.

Broadly speaking, two factors impact solute partitioning into lipid bilayers; a chemical factor which accounts for the fact that the environment in the lipid bilayers is more hydrophobic than the surrounding aqueous conditions and a physical factor, which accounts for the fact that lipid chains in the bilayer are highly organized, thus reducing the partition coefficient due to low free volumes (Egberts et al 1994; Tieleman et al 1997). The complexity of the physical contributions to partition coefficients has been reported for phospholipid bilayers based on molecular simulations and experimental measurements. For the phospholipids, organization of the lipid tails has been shown to vary substantially with the depth within the bilayer (Egberts et al 1994). Because the chains are more loosely packed near the center of the bilayer, solutes tend to partition preferentially near the bilayer center compared to near the head group (Marrink & Berendsen 1994; Mitragotri et al 1999). Extension of these findings to SC lipid bilayers has been challenging owing to their greater chemical and structural complexity; however recent studies have reported remarkable progress in this direction (Notman et al 2007b; Notman et al 2007a; Notman et al 2008; Das et al 2009). A statistical mechanical theory, called scaled particle theory has been utilized to simplify utilization of molecular details of structures in predicting skin permeability (Mitragotri 2002). This theory revealed that the contribution of physical factors, such as chain packing, is relatively small, especially when compared to the complexity that it adds to the calculations. Consistent with strategies for developing QSPR, it is reasonable to assume that the partition coefficient of a solute from water into SC lipids is comparable to that

into an isotropic solvent that reasonably mimics the chemical environment in the SC lipids. Several solvents including octanol, hexadecane, olive oil, butadiene, and dodecadiene, have been used as model solvents for SC lipids (Raykar et al 1988; Anderson & Raykar 1989; Xiang & Anderson 1994; Johnson et al 1997b; Yamamoto & Liljestrand 2004; Kwon et al 2006; Nitsche et al 2006a), although octanol is the most convenient for reasons discussed earlier (Johnson et al 1996).

After subdividing the corneocyte partition coefficient in Eq. [28] into contributions from water and protein binding (i.e., $\phi_{cor} = \phi_{pro} + \phi_{water}$, where ϕ_{pro} and ϕ_{water} are the volume fractions of proteins and water in the SC assumed to only exist within the corneocytes), Nitsche et al. (Nitsche et al 2006b) derived the following expressions for partitioning from a water vehicle by regressing the octanol-water partition coefficient to a large set of experimental $K_{sc/w}$ data according to the relationship described in Eq. [28] using the following expressions for the lipidwater and corneocyte-water partition coefficients:

$$K_{lip/w} = 0.35 P^{0.81}$$
^[29]

$$K_{cor/w} = \frac{5.4 P^{0.27} \omega_{pro} + \upsilon}{\left(\omega_{pro} \rho_{water} / \rho_{pro}\right) + \upsilon}$$
[30]

In Eq. [30], w_{pro} is the mass of protein per mass of dry SC (assumed to be 0.9), v is the mass of water in the SC per mass of dry SC (which varies with hydration), and ρ_{water} and ρ_{pro} are the densities of water and protein, respectively. For nearly the same dataset used to derive Eqs. [29] and [30], Vecchia and Bunge (Vecchia & Bunge 2002a) determined a = 0.88 and b = 0.43 for an expression in the form of Eq. [27]. The expressions in Eqs. [29] and [30] can also be used in complex diffusion models of the SC, which require partition coefficients for the lipids and

corneocytes (Wang et al 2006a, 2007). Expressions have been derived to describe solute diffusion in dermis (Ibrahim & Kasting 2010), a topic that is not included in this discussion.

4.2. Diffusion coefficient

Diffusion coefficients in a composite, anisotropic medium like the SC must be carefully defined and judiciously applied. Passive transport across such a medium cannot always be defined in terms of a single diffusion coefficient, either because of the anisotropy or because the conditions for an effective medium description of the material are not satisfied (Brenner & Edwards 1993). The essential condition is that the time frame for equilibration of all microscopic processes must be much shorter than that for bulk transport across the system (Wang et al 2006a). Furthermore, the diffusion coefficient, like the partition coefficient, may change with concentration of the test material (Anissimov & Roberts 2004b), or in response to other chemical or physical perturbation of the system. A recently presented example in which a single diffusion coefficient does not describe transport in the SC is the absorption and desorption kinetics of water (Anissimov & Roberts 2009b). This result was interpreted in terms of slowly reversible binding of water to keratin. The slow kinetics of this process relative to transport times across the tissue preclude the use of effective medium parameters to describe the result. As another example, lateral and transverse diffusion coefficients within the SC are anticipated to have different values due to the anisotropy of the tissue (Wang et al 2006a). This discussion will focus on transverse diffusion across the SC, the problem of greatest interest for most applications.

The most common way to obtain the transverse diffusion coefficient of a permeant in the SC is from experimentally measured steady-state permeabilities in combination with an equilibrium partitioning experiment employing the same vehicle (Eq. 6). Diffusion coefficients so obtained will work when employed in an identical manner, i.e., to estimate steady-state flux across skin from the same vehicle. They are not guaranteed to work for other vehicles or even for transient calculations from the same vehicle, as was shown by Frasch and Barbero (Frasch & Barbaro 2003). This obviously limits their utility. Conversely, and for the same reasons, when diffusivities estimated from the lag time, t_L , of steady-state permeation studies as $h^2/6t_L$ are combined with experimental partition coefficient values, they may not yield accurate steady-state permeabilities. They have the advantage that the partition coefficient need not be known, but they have a disadvantage that experimental variability is high and may be complicated by swelling or shunt diffusion (Scheuplein 1967).

All other estimates of diffusion coefficients in the SC are model-based. They are only as good as the underlying model. Relative to values calculated from Eq. 6, they have the advantage of applying to a broader range of conditions including predictions for new permeants, if the model is valid. This has inspired a great deal of effort to develop such models, a few of which are discussed below. It is important to realize that the more complex models actually calculate flux under various conditions based on an underlying microscopic model. Below, we summarize some of the efforts put forth to describe diffusion coefficients in the SC.

Potts-Guy Model: The Potts-Guy Equation, in its commonly used form, is often referred to as a QSPR model; however the same equation has been rearranged to describe the diffusion

coefficient in the SC. The resultant equation is a model for a homogeneous lipid membrane for which the diffusivity is described using a free volume-like expression (Kumins & Kwei 1968).

$$D_{sc} / h_{sc} = \left(D^0 / h_{sc} \right) \exp(-\beta'' \cdot MW)$$
[31]

where $D^0/h_{sc} = 10^{-6.3}$ cm/s, $\beta''= -0.0061$ and *MW* is the molecular weight of the permeant. Equation 31 captures the most essential feature of SC diffusivity – it is a strongly decreasing function of the molecular volume (or approximately the molecular weight) of the permeant. The more complex microscopic models developed later in the field retain this essential feature.

Johnson-Blankschtein-Langer Model: Johnson and coworkers (Johnson et al 1997a) proposed that transdermal drug transport was dominated by lateral diffusion in the lipid layers (**Figure 3**). The lipids are anisotropic, but they are arranged such that permeants can travel across the SC without having to cross lipid headgroup regions (c.f. Model 1 in Ref. (Wang et al 2006a)). The corneocyte phase was considered to be impermeable. The lateral diffusion coefficient was estimated by fitting Eq. 6 to experimentally measured skin permeabilities. The diffusion coefficients thus measured compared well to the experimentally measured diffusion coefficients in isolated SC lipids using Fluorescence Recovery After Photobleaching (FRAP) experiments on fluorophores (Johnson et al 1996). These lateral diffusion coefficients as derived from Saffman-Delbruck theory for diffusion of proteins in cell membranes (Saffman & Delbruck 1975). The theory captured several aspects of SC diffusion, but required an inordinately long path length through the SC (3.6 cm) to reconcile observed diffusive lag times.

Wang-Kasting-Nitsche model: Wang et al. (Wang et al 2006a, 2007) proposed a composite model of the SC that retained a two-dimensional brick-and-mortar geometry similar to (Johnson et al 1997a), but allowed for a permeable corneocyte phase. Lipids were anisotropic, as in (Johnson et al 1997a), but two arrangements were considered (**Figure 4**).



Figure 4. Alternative topologies of the intercellular lipid phase according to Wang et al. (Wang et al 2006a) (a) Model 1, admitting bilayers that continue indefinitely from unit cell to unit cell without interruption. (b) Model 2, in which each corneocyte is completely surrounded by intact lipid bilayers; here progress from one layer of corneocytes to the next requires a transbilayer transport step.

The lipid arrangement in Model 1 was similar to that described by Johnson *et al.* (Johnson et al 1997a), but Model 2 required permeants to cross many headgroup regions in order to traverse the tissue. A further elaboration was the addition of an SC hydration component to the model, so that both partially hydrated and fully hydrated SC could be represented. The model describes three microscopic transport coefficients in the SC: a lateral lipid diffusivity, D_{lat} , a transverse mass transfer coefficient, k_{trans} , for hopping across lamellar bilayers, and an isotropic corneocyte-phase diffusivity, D_{car} . A microscopic partition model is separately described (Nitsche et al 2006b). SC permeability was calculated from a finite difference representation of these models cast in terms of dimensionless parameters *R* and σ . *R* is essentially the ratio of transverse to

lateral diffusion rates in the lipids, whereas σ is the ratio of lipid to corneocyte permeabilities. The permeability surfaces calculated by this approach are shown in **Figure 5**. Among the conclusions generated from this approach were that the SC lipids were highly anisotropic, with transverse mass transfer generally much slower than lateral lipid diffusion (Wang et al 2007). Furthermore, most permeants of interest for pharmaceutical or dermal safety evaluation permeated the SC in a predominately transcellular manner (Wang et al 2007).

(a)



Figure 5. Dimensionless SC permeability surface for the model described by Wang et al. (Wang et al 2007) (a) Model 1 and (b) Model 2. In both parts, the (upper) surface defined by the mesh of thick lines represents swollen (fully hydrated) SC, and the (lower) gray surface with thin lines represents unswollen (partially hydrated) SC. The dimensionless parameters R and σ are described in the text.

Mitragotri Model: Mitragotri put forth an equation to describe solute diffusion in lipid bilayers using Scaled Particle Theory. This statistical mechanical theory allows for solute diffusion in all directions within the lipids (trans- and lateral) and provides an average value. This theory calculates diffusion coefficient based on the amount of work required to create a free volume to allow for solute diffusion. The average diffusion coefficient in the lipid bilayer was given by Eq. 32.

$$D_{lip} = 2x10^{-5} \exp(-0.46r^2)$$
 [32]

where, *r* is the solute radius in Angtroms and D_{lip} is in cm²/s.

4.3. Diffusion path length/tortuosity

If the SC lipids comprise the primary route by which permeants enter and cross the tissue, then the geometry of the SC and the detailed arrangement of both corneocytes and lipids makes a great deal of difference in model calculations, as it affects the path length for diffusion. This subject has been discussed extensively since the first development of brick-and-mortar models (Michaels et al 1975); it is a key aspect of lipid pathway models such as (Johnson et al 1997a). If, on the other hand, diffusion is primarily transcellular, then the lipid tortuosity factor is of secondary importance. This is the position presented in (Wang et al 2007). Clearly, as the importance of corneocyte-phase transport is reduced, the impact of lipid tortuosity increases.

A detailed discussion of lipid phase tortuosity has been presented by Frasch and Barbero (Frasch & Barbaro 2003) in their finite element analysis of the SC lipid pathway. They studied transient diffusion through model SC structures including both ordered and disordered corneocyte phases. In this particular analysis, the corneocyte phase was considered to be impermeable, a restriction later relaxed (Barbero & Frasch 2006). Frasch and Barbero found that diffusion in both the ordered and disordered SC models was well described by a homogeneous membrane model; however, both the effective diffusion coefficient, D^* , and the path length, h_{sc}^* , were different from the input variables. For the ordered structure shown in **Figure 3**, h_{sc}^* is given by:

$$h_{sc}^* = N(d+t+g).$$
 [33]

The value of D^* was not expressed so compactly; however, expressions for the flux and lag time relative to a homogeneous membrane having the same microscopic lipid diffusivity D_0 and thickness h_0 were given. The results were:

$$\frac{J_0}{J^*} = 1 + \frac{\alpha\phi}{\sigma} + \frac{\alpha^2\phi^2}{4(1-\phi)}$$
[34]

and

$$\frac{t_{lag^*}}{t_{lag0}} = \frac{\sigma(1+\alpha\varphi)}{\alpha} \left(1 + \frac{\alpha\varphi}{\sigma} + \frac{\omega}{(1+\omega)^2} \frac{\alpha^2\varphi^2}{(1-\varphi)} \right)$$
[35]

Here $\alpha = d/t$, $\sigma = s/t$, $\phi = t/(t+g)$ and $\omega = d_L/d_s$. Eq. 33 had been given previously by Johnson *et al.* (Johnson et al 1997a), and Eq. 35 has been corrected as discussed in (Frasch & Barbero 2004). Equations 33 and 35 have been fully validated for the case of isotropic lipids and impermeable corneocytes (Frasch & Barbaro 2003). However, both of these assumptions are challenged in recent SC models (Wang et al 2006a, 2007). More recently, Kushner et al. reported a structure-based model with two tortuosity factors to account for the effect of branched, parallel pathways on the transport of hydrophobic permeants through the lipid bilayers of the stratum corneum. Both steady-state and transient solutions to Fick's second law were provided (Kushner *et al* 2007).

5. MATHEMATICAL APPROACHES

The expression of transport of a solute across a skin barrier membrane involves a number of steps and phases in a space and time variant process. The formal description of this process as a single equation is not straightforward, other than as one or more approximations in definition of the transport conditions or in presentation of the solutions. Here, we begin with the conventional Laplace Transform approach used to solve diffusion equations, move to methods that allow variations in space and time in the transport process and various complexities to be better addressed. We conclude with a comment on how approximations may be used to summarize skin penetration data in the real world situation.

5.1. Laplace Transform solutions

Laplace transform is an integral transformation that is used to solve ordinary and partial differential equations. Its application to solving diffusion problems has been described in the well known book by Crank (Crank 1975) and by Carslaw and Jaeger for the analogous heat conduction problems (Carslaw & Jaeger 1959). In the notation common in the skin transport literature, Laplace transform of the C at *x* and *t* in the skin, C(x,t), is defined as:

$$\hat{C}(x,s) = \mathcal{L}\left\{C(x,t)\right\} = \int_{0}^{\infty} C(x,t)e^{-st}dt$$
[36]

where \mathcal{L} designates the Laplace operator, *s* is the Laplace variable and the hat over the function ([^]) denotes the Laplace transform. If the Laplace transform of a function is known it can be potentially inverted to time domain. Inverting back to time domain, however, is not trivial and

requires the knowledge of the theory of functions of a complex variable, although tables of Laplace transform (e.g.(Abramowitz & Stegun 1965)) often help the inversion process.

The most useful property of the Laplace transform in the context of solving differential equations is that it converts time derivatives into algebraic functions of position and *s*, thereby reducing the partial differential diffusion equation into an ordinary differential equation that is much easier to solve. The Laplace transform of the diffusion equation, Eq. 19, yields:

$$s\hat{C}(x,s) - C(x,0) = D\frac{d^2}{dx^2}\hat{C}(x,s)$$
 [37]

where C(x,0) is the initial condition. If the skin starts out without any chemical, C(x,0) = 0, Eq. 37 has the general solution:

$$\hat{C}(x,s) = A(s)\sinh\left(\frac{x}{h}\sqrt{st_d}\right) + B(s)\cosh\left(\frac{x}{h}\sqrt{st_d}\right)$$
[38]

where *h* is the thickness of the SC, $t_d = h^2/D$ is the characteristic time of diffusion, and *A*(*s*) and *B*(*s*) are functions of only *s*, which are be determined from the boundary conditions and *h* is the thickness of the SC. Equation [38] can also be further manipulated to calculate the transdermal flux and cumulative drug transport. The use of Laplace transforms for mathematical modeling of skin transport was pioneered by Hadgraft (Hadgraft 1979, 1980a) and Guy and Hadgraft who used the solution in the Laplace domain (Guy & Hadgraft 1980) to derive long and short time approximations of the total amount of drug that penetrated in the time domain.

The popularity of the Laplace transform in the skin literature has increased since the availability of scientific software (e.g. Scientist, MicroMath Scientific software) that can invert from the Laplace domain to the time domain and allowing regression to experimental data

without the extra work of first deriving a functional representation of the Laplace solution inverted into the time domain. With this type of software, having the Laplace solution is virtually as good as having solution written in terms of time. Anissimov and Roberts (Anissimov & Roberts 1999, 2001, 2004a, 2009a) have used the numerical inversion of Laplace transform solutions to the diffusion equation for simulations and data analysis of skin transport experiments. One of the useful properties of the Laplace transform is that it can be used directly (without inversion to the time domain) to determine some parameters. In transport through skin for the case of a constant donor concentration, such parameters are the steady-state flux and the lag time (Anissimov & Roberts 1999, 2001).

While Laplace transforms offer numerous advantages in solving diffusion equations, they also suffer from certain limitations. Most notably, to be solvable by the Laplace transform, the partial differential equations have to have coefficients that are independent of C. Also, the coefficients in the differential equation (e.g., the diffusion coefficient in Eq. 19) have to be independent of time (e.g. constants or functions of x only) for the Laplace transform to convert the partial differential equation into an ordinary differential equation of x only. This excludes important classes of problems in skin transport that involve the diffusion coefficient changing with concentration or time. For example, co-diffusion with a penetration enhancer or a diffusion coefficient that changes due to skin drying.

5.2. Finite Differences solutions

The finite difference approach to solving a differential equation or a system thereof involves replacing the differential equation with a set of difference equations that cover the requisite

space. There are many variations to this theme, the sophistication of which depends upon the problem to be solved. The most common difference approximations are centered differences, i.e., equations centered in space at the location where the approximation is made. As an example, the one-dimensional diffusion equation,

$$\frac{\partial C}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(D \frac{\partial C}{\partial x} \right)$$
[39]

which is written to allow D to be a function of x or a function of C, which is a function of x, becomes, after differencing in space:

$$\left(\Delta x\right)^{2} \frac{dC_{i}}{dt} = D_{i-1/2}C_{i-1} - \left(D_{i-1/2} + D_{i+1/2}\right)C_{i} + D_{i+1/2}C_{i+1}, i = 2, ..., N-1$$
[40]

Here the region in space governed by Eq. [40] has been subdivided into *N* equally spaced layers. In this scheme the concentrations C_i are defined at the center of each layer and the diffusivities $D_{Ii \pm \frac{1}{2}}$ are defined at the edges of the layers. The layers i = 1 and i = N require special treatment because they incorporate the boundary conditions for the problem. This differencing scheme transforms the partial differential equation into a set of *N* ordinary differential equations (ODEs). The system of ODEs may then be solved by standard techniques (Press et al 1992), most of which involve integrating difference equations in time. A skin diffusion model employing Eq. 40 and a Crank-Nicolson time integration scheme is described in (Kasting et al 2008).

For systems involving widely varying distance scales, finite difference schemes with a variable spatial mesh have been developed. The mesh spacing broadens in the center of a layer and becomes very fine at interfaces where transport properties are discontinuous. Appropriate application of this methodology allows the development of extremely efficient integration routines with remarkable spatial resolution. A masterful application of this approach to the SC

brick-and-mortar diffusion problem, conceived in large part by Prof. J. M. Nitsche, is described by Wang et al. (Wang et al 2006a, 2007).

Finite difference methods are particularly advantageous for potentially nonlinear systems with either simple geometry or periodic geometry. Much of the efficiency is lost for disordered structures. Relative to finite element methods, finite difference methods can be much more efficient on periodic problems such as a regular brick-and-mortar SC structure. However, considerable skill is required to construct accurate approximations at boundaries and to implement an efficient variable mesh scheme. Relative to Laplace transform methods, the biggest advantages of finite differences are the ability to handle nonlinear problems and more complex boundary conditions. Both call for considerable skill by the operator.

5.3. Finite Element Method Solutions

The finite element method (FEM) is related to the finite difference method in that both offer approximate numerical solutions to linear or non-linear partial differential equations. The FEM is able to handle domains with complicated geometries and boundaries, including moving boundaries. The primary basis for the FEM is the discretization of a continuous domain of interest—here the skin—into a discrete set of connected subdomains. The resulting mesh of triangles or higher order polygons, referred to as elements, creates a finite dimensional linear problem whose solution can be implemented on a computer. In general, the density of the mesh varies across the domain, with greater density over those areas where greater precision in the solution is required. An example might be the regions in the stratum corneum near a boundary

between corneocyte and lipid domains. Owing to the complexity of the meshing and solution procedures, the FEM is frequently implemented using commercial software packages.

Rim et al. (Rim 2005) developed a finite element model consisting of two isotropic materials with different diffusion and partition coefficients, connected by an interfacial flux. The two materials are intended to represent a dermal patch or reservoir containing a drug of interest, and the skin. Addition of a permeation enhancer creates a coupled 2-component system with concentration-dependent diffusivities to account for interactions between drug and enhancer. *In vitro* experiments using a drug (fentanyl) and an enhancer (lauryl pyroglutamate) were used to examine the relative roles of enhanced diffusivity and partitioning. It was found that the latter more accurately accounts for the experimental observations, but the authors concede that other nonlinear processes may play a role.

Heisig et al used a related method, finite volumes, to solve both transient and steady-state transport of drugs through a biphasic brick and mortar model of stratum corneum (Fig. 3) with isotropic lipids and permeable, isotropic corneocytes (Heisig et al 1996). This work demonstrated the contributions of corneocyte alignment, relative phase diffusivity, and phase partitioning in the barrier properties of the SC. Subsequent extensions in both 2-d (Naegel et al 2008) and 3-d (Naegel et al 2009) skin models have been described, and the group has explored the role of drug binding to corneocyte elements on skin transport (Hansen et al 2009). The key finding is that steady-state binding data of lipophilic compounds can be described by a model that posits interaction with the cornified cell envelope.

Frasch and Barbero (Frasch & Barbero 2003) analyzed a finite element model of the stratum corneum lipid pathway to investigate effective path length and diffusional lag times in this path compared with a homogeneous membrane of the same thickness. Results of this analysis have been described above. This group also presented a transcellular pathway model, whereby permeants are granted access to the corneocytes via a corneocyte-lipid partition coefficient and separate diffusivity within corneocytes compared with lipids. The authors compared modeled membrane lag times with *in vitro* measurements (n=27) for hydrophilic compounds gathered from the literature. Results pointed to a transcellular pathway with preferential corneocyte partitioning as the likely diffusional path for hydrophiles. Lag times in the lipid path model were too brief to account for measured lag times, whereas the transcellular route could account for them (Barbero & Frasch 2006).

A secondary result from these investigations was the observation that the complex disordered geometric representation of the stratum corneum could be reduced to a simple, rectangular brick-and-mortar geometry with very similar results (Barbero & Frasch 2005). Furthermore, for many realistic combinations of corneocyte/lipid partitioning and diffusivity, the short vertical connections between bricks can be ignored and the problem can be reduced to a multilayer a-b laminate model, where "a" represents lipids and "b" corneocytes. This configuration is a good representation for the transcellular path with preferential corneocyte partitioning. Thus for many purposes, the complex geometrical arrangement of the stratum corneum can be reduced to a much simpler geometry for which simpler numerical algorithms, such as the finite difference method, can be applied. In fact, analytical solutions for steady-state flux and lag time have been published for the multilayer laminate model (Crank 1975).

Further refinement supports the idea of a "pseudohomogeneous membrane" model of stratum corneum. This means that, for purposes of estimating macro-level time dependent variables such as flux and penetrated mass, a homogeneous membrane approximation can be made which eliminates the necessity of explicitly accounting for the complex geometrical configuration of the stratum corneum. This conclusion is bolstered by more formal analysis using the method of homogenization (Rim et al 2008). The parameters of this reduced membrane— effective diffusivity, partition coefficient, and path length—can be estimated as described herein (Section 4). (Anissimov & Roberts 1999, 2001, 2004a; Frasch & Barbero 2008; Anissimov & Roberts 2009a).

5.4. Random Walk Method

Diffusion, at its fundamental level, arises from the random thermal motion of molecules suspended in a medium. This has led numerous investigators to use a "random walk" simulation as a model for diffusion. An unbiased random number generator coupled with local diffusion rules, are all that is required computationally. Many diffusion processes, such as molecular mobility, phase partitioning and binding, can be simulated by the generation of random integers. Frasch applied these processes to simulate diffusion within a complex geometric representation of the stratum corneum (Frasch 2002). He correlated diffusivity with the molecular weight of a compound, and related corneocyte-lipid partitioning to the octanol-water partition coefficient of the compound, so that model results could be regressed to measured permeability coefficients (k_p) from the Flynn data base (Flynn 1990). He found a correlation coefficient (r^2) of 0.84, compared with 0.67 produced by the Potts and Guy equation.

5.5 Estimation of Total Exposure

Up until this section, we have emphasized transport through an isolated skin membrane. In practice, however, the transport will need to be evaluated in the context of local or systemic action. The solute needs to reach at least the epidermis and potentially dermis to exhibit local or systemic toxicity. The generalized equation describing a steady state concentration C_{ss} is dependent on the steady state flux *Jss*, the *in vivo* bioavailability *F* (for instance accounting for loss due to local skin metabolism), the application area *A* and the clearance *CL* from either the skin (for a local effect) or from the body for a systemic effect (Dancik et al 2008):

$$C_{ss} = F.J_{ss} A/CL$$

$$[41]$$

If the target is the epidermis, the epidermal concentrations $C_{ss,e}$ is related to the concentration in the vehicle C_v by the ratio of the permeability coefficient k_p to the dermal clearance CL_d (Roberts MS 2005):

$$C_{ss,e} = k_p C_v / (k_p + CL_d / K_e)$$

$$[42]$$

Accordingly, if there is no clearance into the dermis due to poor blood flow and/or solubility, Eq. 42 shows that the epidermal concentration is given by K_eC_v , where K_e is the epidermis to vehicle partition coefficient. On the other hand, if the dermal clearance is very high, the epidermal concentration will be inversely dependent on that clearance, i.e. $C_{ss,e} \sim k_p K_e C_v/CL_d$. The time course for establishment of *in vivo* levels is also more complex than we have described in terms of transport across a skin membrane. Here, the time course for elimination from the dermal site or from the body as a whole further complicates the kinetic description. Further, there may be solute returning to the site from the blood that can complicate the profiles even further as we

have described (Singh P. 1993). For a fuller description of the principles of physiologicallybased drug pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in the skin, the reader is referred to (Dancik et al 2008).

One of the most challenging skin mathematical problems for a biologist is summarizing data for finite dose experiments. As a consequence, most biologists rely on using the steady state infinite dose solution described earlier in this review. Unfortunately, it has been shown that the penetration profiles for infinite and finite dose formulations can differ quite markedly (for example see (Cross et al 2001)). For a finite volume vehicle application the solute flux can be expressed in the Laplace domain [132]

$$\hat{J}(s) = \frac{dose}{A} \frac{1}{\cosh\sqrt{st_d} + V_{dN}\sqrt{st_d} \sinh\sqrt{st_d}} \quad [43]$$

where *A* is the area of application and $V_{dN} = \frac{V_{donor}}{AhK}$ and represents relative volume of the donor phase. Whilst experimental data for flux can be fitted by this equation using numerical Laplace inversion and regression software, it is not straightforward for many scientists. A simpler approach is to use the key features of the flux versus time profile after a finite dose to summarize the observed absorption, using model approximations to yield measures for partition and diffusion parameters after the finite dose application. For instance, the cumulative amount penetrated at any time *t* is simply the area under the curve of flux versus time to time *t* as determined by the trapezoidal rule or other simple method to estimate area. The peak flux (*J_{peak}*) is the peak in profile of flux versus time (usually a skewed to the left bell shape curve [132]) and time for that peak flux *t_{peak}* is most easily defined when the donor volume approaches zero, i.e. $V_{dN} \rightarrow 0$, as occurs with a solvent deposited solid. The simplified expressions, first described by Scheuplein & Ross (Scheuplein & Ross 1974), are:

$$J_{peak} \approx 1.850 \ dose \ D/(h^2 A)$$

$$[44]$$

$$t_{peak} \approx h^2 / (6D)$$
 [45]

where *dose/A* is dose per unit area (and equals C_v multiplied by thickness of vehicle) [132]. It should be noted that Eqs. 44 and 45 are simple solutions for a homogeneous membrane slab and do not take into account SC heterogeneity [119] and slow binding within the SC [120] and thus might be considered as approximations for certain solutes.

6. SUMMARY AND OUTLOOK

Through the combined efforts of several investigators, mathematical modeling of skin has made outstanding progress in the last several decades and various models have been set forth. In particular, the QSPRs and other models described here are routinely used to assess, as a first pass, the likelihood that a drug can be delivered via the transdermal route. Such predictions provide an economic alternative to experimentation. Ultimately, these modeling approaches must be combined with a knowledge of the potency of the active at the target site so that therapeutically relevant candidates are progressed to final formulations (Cordero et al 2001). Real advances in our understanding of percutaneous penetration are best exemplified in those cases where models are underpinned by experiment. For example concentration profiles in skin have recently been examined and solutions to Fick's second law of diffusion have been used in combination with skin stripping to separate the effects of the partition coefficient and the diffusion coefficient on permeation (Herkenne et al 2007). With the advent of Confocal Raman and other spectroscopic techniques it should now be possible to model and interpret experimental concentration profiles of both drug and excipient in *vivo*.

Mathematical models also provide a means to assess the likelihood of systemic exposure upon dermal contact with toxic chemicals. However, the current level of sophistication and refinement in the mathematical modeling of chemical transport through skin has not found broad application in the areas of dermal exposure and risk assessments. There may be several reasons for this. First, many of the models are not easily accessible to the risk assessors and industrial hygienists who could use them. Second, many existing predictive models are limited to single chemicals in simple matrices such as water, whereas complex mixtures are the rule in most industrial and environmental settings. Third, there remains confusion on how to use the results from modeling. If a model estimates a permeability coefficient from a given vehicle, how can this information be used to predict the mass of chemical that penetrates the skin from a given exposure? Finally, there is a valid concern regarding the legitimacy and range of applicability of current models. An important challenge for the modeling community is to educate the risk assessment community on the appropriate uses and limitations of mathematical models.

In the United States, documented instances of the application of mathematical modeling to dermal risk assessment cite the use of permeability coefficients (k_p) and their model-based estimation. The US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) provided guidelines for dermal risk

assessment in 1992 (EPA 1992) and advocated the use of the Potts and Guy (Potts & Guy 1992) equation for estimating k_p where experimental data are unavailable. Subsequent documents (EPA 2004) incorporate refinements based largely on contributions by Bunge and coworkers (Cleek & Bunge 1993; Reddy et al 2000) to estimate dermal absorbed doses from water and soil pathways. The Office of Pesticide Programs uses k_p for estimating an "absorbed dose rate" from swimming in areas treated with pesticides post-application (EPA 1997), and the Office of Solid Waste and Emergency Response uses k_p to calculate an "absorbed dose per event" for contact with chemicals in water at Superfund sites (EPA 2004). In a recent report, these are the only instances of the use of an estimate of dermal penetration among 24 reported equations used by the EPA for dermal exposure assessment purposes (EPA 2007). The US National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) uses experimental or model-based estimates of k_p to calculate systemic uptake from skin exposure for comparison with uptake from inhalational exposure at the occupational exposure limit of the chemical. The comparison is used for the assignment of skin notations, which are hazard warnings used to alert workers and employers to the health risks associated with skin exposures to chemicals in the workplace (NIOSH 2009). Sahmel et al. (Sahmel 2009) present a number of model-based methods to estimate exposure and absorption of substances via the dermal route. The intended audience is industrial hygienists and risk assessors tasked with estimating dermal loading on skin, dermal absorption and penetration into the systemic circulation.

An important challenge and question from the perspective of the mathematical modeler is how much modeling can the data support. For example, if a classic diffusion cell experiment is performed, where steady state is established, often the data can only justify fitting a straight line though the steady-state portion of the total amount of solute in the receptor measured as a function of time. On the other hand, if different types of experiments are performed and the data are analyzed simultaneously as in water penetration and desorption experiments (Anissimov & Roberts 2009a) or in the analysis of clobetasol propionate (Mueller et al 2003), one is forced to use more advanced modeling. Generally, in an experiment that does not directly measure the quantity under the investigation, more complex modeling is required, as in the work on *in vivo* skin penetration (Pirot et al 1997) (Norman et al 2008), where flux was deduced from data obtained from measuring concentration of the solute in tape strips and in the breath, respectively.

Another challenge is the large number of parameters that is required for more advanced modeling, which is often not readily available. If a simple diffusion model is used, three parameters are all that is needed (a partition coefficient, diffusion coefficient and path length). When spatial variability of all these parameters in the SC is also modeled, the number of parameters becomes staggering, with no realistic experiments to support this kind of modeling. Considering slow equilibration in the SC adds two extra parameters (binding and unbinding rates). A careful consideration is required, therefore, when adding complexity to modeling for the purposes of analyzing data. If donor concentration decreases by less than 20% during the experiment, it is most likely that the simplest infinite donor model can be applied, without adding an extra parameter for the volume of donor phase (which will be most likely be poorly determined from data fitting in this case) and solving the unsteady-state diffusion equation. Numerical finite element schemes for solving diffusion equation can easily handle 2D or even 3D problems given current computing speeds, but whether this voyage to extra dimensions helps in modeling skin penetration data has to be carefully considered by the modeler.

The ultimate challenge is probably to keep models simple enough, so that it is used by the experimental community, while still explaining some complex real world data. Such complexities might for example include the changing hydration (and thus diffusion coefficient) of the SC in realistic skin penetration scenarios. The co-application of penetration enhancers will also produce changing diffusion coefficients and partition coefficients, which at this stage can only be modeled by relatively complex models (in the sense of applying it to data) relying on finite element or finite difference schemes. Perhaps going back to compartment models, as previously suggested (Anissimov 2008), might address the issue of keeping it simple, while fitting the real data. (Vecchia & Bunge 2002a)

In the long-term, the utility of any mathematical model will be measured against some simple requirements: (i) that it offers mechanistic insight consistent with knowledge about skin barrier function and percutaneous absorption that has been deduced by validated, independent observations; (ii) that it predicts a parameter suitable for its intended use (e.g., a permeability coefficient, or a (trans)dermal flux); (iii) that it is comprehensible to skin scientists with "ordinary skill in the art", and that the descriptors required by the model are easily calculable or readily available in publicly-accessible sources; (iv) that it is broadly applicable across diverse chemical classes, not merely specific to one limited group of structurally-related compounds; and (v) that modification (which normally means additional complexity) to an existing model provides statistically significant results compared to existing methods.

REFERENCES

- ABRAHAM, M. H., MARTINS, F., MITCHELL, R. C. (1997) Algorithms for skin permeability using hydrogen bond descriptors: the problem of steroids. J Pharm Pharmacol 49: 858-65
- ABRAHAM, M. H., CHANDHA, H. S., MARTINS, F., MITCHELL, R. C., MICHAEL, W., GRATTON, J. (1999) Hydrogen bonding-Part 4: A review of the correlation and prediction of transport properties by an LFER method: Physicochemical properties, brain penetration and skin permeability. Pestic. Sci. 55: 78-88
- ABRAMOWITZ, M., STEGUN, I. A. (1965) Handbook of mathematical functions with formulas, graphs, and mathematical tables. Dover, New York, NY
- ANDERSON, B., RAYKAR, P. (1989) Solute structure-permeability relationships in human stratum corneum. J Invest Dermatol 93: 280-6
- ANDO, H., HO, N., HIGUCHI, W. (1977) Skin as an active metabolizing barrier I: Theoretical analysis of topical bioavailability. J Pharm Sci 66: 1525-8
- ANISSIMOV, Y. G. (2008) Mathematical Models for Different Exposure Conditions. In: Roberts, M. S., Walters, K. A. (eds) Dermal Absorption and Toxicity Assessment 4edn. Informa Healthcare, New York, pp 271-286
- ANISSIMOV, Y. G., ROBERTS, M. S. (1999) Diffusion modeling of percutaneous absorption kinetics: 1. Effects of flow rate, receptor sampling rate and viable epidermal resistance for a constant donor concentration. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences 88: 1201-1209
- ANISSIMOV, Y. G., ROBERTS, M. S. (2001) Diffusion modeling of percutaneous absorption kinetics: 2. Finite vehicle volume and solvent deposited solids. J Pharm Sci 90: 504-520.
- ANISSIMOV, Y. G., ROBERTS, M. S. (2004a) Diffusion modeling of percutaneous absorption kinetics: 3. Variable diffusion and partition coefficients, consequences for stratum corneum depth profiles and desorption kinetics. J Pharm Sci 93: 470-87
- ANISSIMOV, Y. G., ROBERTS, M. S. (2004b) Diffusion modeling of percutaneous absorption kinetics: 3. Variable diffusion and partition coefficients, consequences for stratum corneum depth profiles and desorption kinetics. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences 93: 470-487
- ANISSIMOV, Y. G., ROBERTS, M. S. (2009a) Diffusion modeling of percutaneous absorption kinetics: 4. Effects of a Slow Equilibration Process Within Stratum Corneum on Absorption and Desorption Kinetics. J Pharm Sci 98: 772–781
- ANISSIMOV, Y. G., ROBERTS, M. S. (2009b) Diffusion modelling of percutaneous absorption kinetics: 4. Effects of a slow equilibration process within stratum corneum on absorption and desorption kinetics. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences 98: 772-781
- BAERT, B., DECONINCK, E., VAN GELE, M., SLODICKA, M., STOPPIE, P., BODÉ, S., SLEGERS, G., VANDER HEYDEN, Y., LAMBERT, J., BEETENS, J., DE SPIEGELEER, B. (2007) Transdermal penetration behaviour of drugs: CART-clustering, QSPR and selection of model compounds. Bioorg Med Chem 15: 6943-55
- BANDO H, S., M., YAMASHITA, F., TAKAKURA, Y. AND HASHIDA, M. (1997) In vivo evaluation of acyclovir prodrug penetration and metabolism through rat skin using a diffusion/bioconversion model. Pharm Res. 14: 56 62.
- BANDO H, S. M., TAKAGI T, YAMASHITA F, TAKAKURA Y, HASHIDA M. (1996) Analysis of in vitro skin penetration of acyclovir prodrugs based on a diffusion model with a metabolic process. International Journal of Pharmaceutics 135: 91-102

- BARBERO, A., FRASCH, H. (2005) Modeling of diffusion with partitioning in stratum corneum using a finite element model. Ann Biomed Eng 33: 1281-92
- BARBERO, A. M., FRASCH, H. F. (2006) Transcellular route of diffusion through stratum corneum: Results from finite element models. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences 95: 2186-2194
- BASAK, S., MILLS, D., MUMTAZ, M. (2007) A quantitative structure-activity relationship (QSAR) study of dermal absorption using theoretical molecular descriptors. SAR QSAR Environ Res 18: 45-55
- BLANK, I., SCHEUPLEIN, R., MACFARLANE, D. (1967) Mechanism of percutaneous absorption. 3. The effect of temperature on the transport of non-electrolytes across the skin. J Invest Dermatol 49: 582-9
- BLANK, I. H. (1965) Cutaneous barriers. J. Invest. Dermatol. 45: 249-256
- BLANK, I. H., SCHEUPLEIN, R.J., MACFARLANE, D.J. (1967) Mechanism of percutaneous absorption III. The effect of temperature on the transport of non-electrolytes across the skin. J. Invest. Dermatol. 49: 582-589
- BOUWMAN, T., CRONIN, M., BESSEMS, J., VAN DE SANDT, J. (2008) Improving the applicability of (Q)SARs for percutaneous penetration in regulatory risk assessment. Hum Exp Toxicol 27: 269-76
- BRENNER, H., EDWARDS, D. A. (1993) Macrotransport Processes. Butterworth-Heinemann, Boston
- BRYAN, C. P. (1930.) The Papyrus Ebers. Translated from the German version. London; G. Bles
- CARSLAW, H., JAEGER, J. (1959) Conduction of Heat in Solids. Oxford University Press, Oxford, Great Britain
- CHANDRASEKARAN, S. K., BAYNE, W., SHAW, J. E. (1978) Pharmacokinetics of drug permeation through human skin. J Pharm Sci 67: 1370-4
- CLEEK, R., BUNGE, A. (1993) A new method for estimating dermal absorption from chemical exposure. 1. General approach. Pharm Res 10: 497-506
- COOPER, E. R. (1987) Effect of lipid solubility and molecular size on percutaneous absorption.In: Shroot, B., Schaefer, H. (ed.) Skin Pharmacokinetics (Pharmacology and the Skin, vol. 1). Karger, Basel, pp 138-153
- CORDERO, J., CAMACHO, M., OBACH, R., DOMENECH, J., VILA, L. (2001) In vitro based index of topical anti-inflammatory activity to compare a series of NSAIDs. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 51: 135-42
- CRANK, J. (1975) The mathematics of diffusion. Clarendon Press, Oxford
- CROSS, S. E., JIANG, R., BENSON, H. A., ROBERTS, M. S. (2001) Can increasing the viscosity of formulations be used to reduce the human skin penetration of the sunscreen oxybenzone? J Invest Dermatol 117: 147-50
- DANCIK, Y., JEPPS, O., ROBERTS, M. (2008) Physiologically based pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of skin. In: Roberts MS, W. K. (ed.) Dermal absorption and toxicity assessment Marcel Dekker, New York, pp 179-207
- DAS, C., NORO, M., OLMSTED, P. (2009) Simulation studies of stratum corneum lipid mixtures. Biophys J 97: 1941-51
- DEEN, W. (1987) Hindered Transport of Large Molecules in Liquid-Filled Pores. AIChE J. 33: 1409-1425
- DEGIM, I. T., PUGH, W.J., HADGRAFT, J. (1998) Skin permeability data: anomalous results. Int. J. Pharm. 170: 129-133

- DINH, S., LUO, C., BERNER, B. (1993) Upper and Lower Limits of Human Skin Electrical Resistance in Iontophoresis. AIChE J. 39: 2011-2018
- EGBERTS, E., MARRINK, S., BERENDSEN, H. (1994) Molecular dynamics simulation of a phospholipid membrane. Eur Biophys J 22: 423-36
- ELIAS, P. (1983) Epidermal lipids, barrier function, and desquamation. J Invest Dermatol 80 Suppl: 44s-49s
- EPA, U. (1992) In: Dermal Exposure Assessment: Principles and Applications
- EPA, U. (1997) In: Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) for Residential Exposure Assessments.
- EPA, U. (2004) Risk Assessment Guidance for Superfund Volume I: Human Health Evaluation Manual
- EPA, U. (2007) In: Dermal Exposure Assessment: A Summary of EPA Approaches
- FLYNN, G. L. (1990) Physicochemical determinants of skin absorption. In: Gerrity, T., Henry, C. (ed.) Principles of Route-to-route Extrapolation for Risk Assessment. Elsevier, New York, pp 93–127
- FOX, J. L., YU, C., HIGUCHI, W.I., HO, N.F. (1979) General physical model for simultaneous diffusion and metabolism in biological membranes. The computational approach for the steady-state case. International Journal of Pharmaceutics 2: 41-57.
- FRASCH, H., BARBERO, A. (2003) Steady-state flux and lag time in the stratum corneum lipid pathway: results from finite element models. J Pharm Sci 92: 2196-207
- FRASCH, H., BARBERO, A. (2008) The transient dermal exposure: theory and experimental examples using skin and silicone membranes. J Pharm Sci 97: 1578-92
- FRASCH, H. F. (2002) A random walk model of skin permeation. Risk Anal 22: 265-76
- FRASCH, H. F., BARBARO, A. M. (2003) Steady-state flux and lag time in the stratum corneum lipid pathway: results from finite element models. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences 92: 2196-2207
- FRASCH, H. F., BARBERO, A. M. (2004) Erratum: Steady-state flux and time lag in the stratum corneum lipid pathway: results from finite element models. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences 93: 1940
- FRASCH, H. F., ET AL. (2010) In Vitro Dermal Penetration of 4-Chloro-3-Methylphenol from Commercial Metal Working Fluid and Aqueous Vehicles. Journal Of Toxicology And Environmental Health-Part A-Current Issues 73: 1394-1405
- GEINOZ, S., GUY, R., TESTA, B., CARRUPT, P. (2004) Quantitative structure-permeation relationships (QSPeRs) to predict skin permeation: a critical evaluation. Pharm Res 21: 83-92
- GUY, R. H. (2010) Predicting the rate and extent of fragrance chemical absoprtion into and through the skin. Chem. Res. Toxicol. 23: 864-870
- GUY, R. H., HADGRAFT, J. (1980) A theoretical description relating skin penetration to the thickness of the applied medicament. International Journal of Pharmaceutics 6: 321-332
- GUY, R. H., HADGRAFT, J. (1982) Percutaneous metabolism with saturable enzyme kinetics. 11: 187-197
- HADGRAFT, J. (1979) The epidermal reservoir: a theoretical approach. Int. J. Pharm. 2: 265-274.
- HADGRAFT, J. (1980a) Theoretical aspects of metabolism in the epidermis. Int. J. Pharm. 4: 229-239
- HADGRAFT, J. (1980b) Theoretical aspects of metabolism in the epidermis. 4: 229-239

- HADGRAFT, J., GUY, R.H. (2003) Feasibility assessment in topical and transdermal delivery: mathematical models and in vitro studies. In: Hadgraft, R. H. G. a. J. (ed.) Transdermal Drug Delivery (2nd Edition, Revised and Expanded). Marcel Dekker, New York, pp 1-23
- HADGRAFT, J. W., SOMERS, G. F. (1956) Percutaneous absorption. J.. Pharm. Pharmacol. 8: 625-634.
- HANSEN, S., NAEGEL, A., HEISIG, M., WITTUM, G., NEUMANN, D., KOSTKA, K. H., MEIERS, P., LEHR, C. M., SCHAEFER, U. F. (2009) The role of corneocytes in skin transport revised--a combined computational and experimental approach. Pharm Res 26: 1379-97
- HATANAKA, T., INUMA, M., SUGIBAYASHI, K., MORIMOTO, Y. (1990) Prediction of skin permeability of drugs. I. Comparison with artificial membrane. Chem Pharm Bull (Tokyo) 38: 3452-9
- HEISIG, M., LIECKFELDT, R., WITTUM, G., MAZURKEVICH, G., LEE, G. (1996) Non steady-state descriptions of drug permeation through stratum corneum. I. The biphasic brick-and-mortar model. Pharm Res 13: 421-6
- HERKENNE, C., NAIK, A., KALIA, Y., HADGRAFT, J., GUY, R. (2007) Dermatopharmacokinetic prediction of topical drug bioavailability in vivo. J Invest Dermatol 127: 887-94
- HIGUCHI, T. (1960) Physical chemical analysis of percutaneous absorption process from creams and ointments. J. Soc. Cosmet. Chem. 11: 85-97
- HIGUCHI, T. (1961) Rate of release of medicaments from ointment bases containing drugs in suspension. J Pharm Sci 50: 874-5
- HIGUCHI, W., LI, S., GHANEM, A., ZHU, H., SONG, Y. (1999) Mechanistic aspects of iontophoresis in human epidermal membrane. J Controlled Release 62(1-2): 13-23
- IBRAHIM, R., KASTING, G. B. (2010) Improved method for determining partition and diffusion coefficients in human dermis. J Pharm Sci 99: 4928-39
- JOHNSON, M. E., BLANKSCHTEIN, D., LANGER, R. (1997a) Evaluation of solute permeation through the stratum corneum: lateral bilayer diffusion as the primary transport mechanism. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences 86: 1162-1172
- JOHNSON, M. E., BLANKSCHTEIN, D., LANGER, R. (1997b) Evaluation of solute permeation through the stratum corneum: lateral bilayer diffusion as the primary transport mechanism. J Pharm Sci 86: 1162-72
- JOHNSON, M. E., BERK, D. A., BLANKSCHTEIN, D., GOLAN, D. E., JAIN, R. K., LANGER, R. S. (1996) Lateral diffusion of small compounds in human stratum corneum and model lipid bilayer systems. Biophysical Journal 71: 2656-2668
- KASTING, G. B., MILLER, M. A., BHATT, V. (2008) A spreadsheet-based method for estimating the skin disposition of volatile compounds: application to N,N-diethyl-m-toluamide (DEET). Journal of Occupational and Environmental Hygiene 10: 633-644
- KASTING, G. B., SMITH, R.L., ANDERSON, B.D. (1992) Prodrugs for dermal delivery: solubility, molecular size and functional group effects. In: Sloan, K. B. (ed.) Prodrugs – Topical and Ocular Drug Delivery. Marcel Dekker, New York, pp 117-161
- KATRITZKY, A., DOBCHEV, D., FARA, D., HÜR, E., TÄMM, K., KURUNCZI, L., KARELSON, M., VARNEK, A., SOLOV'EV, V. (2006) Skin permeation rate as a function of chemical structure. J Med Chem 49: 3305-14
- KIM, Y. H., GHANEM, A. H., HIGUCHI, W. I. (1992) Model studies of epidermal permeability. Semin Dermatol 11: 145-56
- KONTTURI, K., MURTOMAKI, L. (1994) Impedance spectroscopy in human skin. A refined model. Pharm Res 11: 1355-7

- KRETSOS, K., KASTING, G. (2007) A geometrical model of dermal capillary clearance. Math Biosci 208: 430-53
- KRETSOS, K., KASTING, G., NITSCHE, J. (2004) Distributed diffusion-clearance model for transient drug distribution within the skin. J Pharm Sci 93: 2820-35
- KROES, R., RENWICK, A.G., FERON, V., GALLI, C.L., GIBNEY, M., GREIM, H., GUY, R.H., LHUGUENOT, J.C., VAN DE SANDT, J. (2007) Application of the Threshold of Toxicological Concern (TTC) to the safety evaluation of cosmetic ingredients. Food Chem. Toxicol. 45
- KUMINS, C. A., KWEI, T. K. (1968) Free volume and other theories. In: Crank, J., Park, G. S. (eds) Diffusion in Polymers. Academic Press, New York, pp 107-125
- KURIHARA-BERGSTROM, T., FLYNN, G., HIGUCHI, W. (1986) Physicochemical study of percutaneous absorption enhancement by dimethyl sulfoxide: kinetic and thermodynamic determinants of dimethyl sulfoxide mediated mass transfer of alkanols. J Pharm Sci 75: 479-86
- KUSHNER, J. T., BLANKSCHTEIN, D., LANGER, R. (2007) Evaluation of the porosity, the tortuosity, and the hindrance factor for the transdermal delivery of hydrophilic permeants in the context of the aqueous pore pathway hypothesis using dual-radiolabeled permeability experiments. J Pharm Sci 96: 3263-82
- KWON, J., LILJESTRAND, H., KATZ, L. (2006) Partitioning of moderately hydrophobic endocrine disruptors between water and synthetic membrane vesicles. Environ Toxicol Chem 25: 1984-92
- LAI, P., ROBERTS, M. S. (1998) Epidermal Iontophoresis: II. Application of the Ionic Mobility-Pore Model to the Transport of Local Anesthetics. Pharm. Res. 15: 1579-1588
- LAI, P., ROBERTS, M. S. (1999) An Analysis of Solute Structure Human Epidermal Transport Relationships in Epidermal Iontophoresis using the Ionic Mobility: Pore Model. J. Control. Rel. 58: 323-333
- LAM, L., SUN, Y., DAVEY, N., ADAMS, R., PRAPOPOULOU, M., BROWN, M., MOSS, G. (2010) The application of feature selection to the development of Gaussian process models for percutaneous absorption. J Pharm Pharmacol 62: 738-49
- LEO, A., HANSCH, C., ELKINS, D. (1971) Partition coefficients and their uses. *Chem. Rev.* **71**: 525–61
- LI, S., GHANEM, A.-H., PECK, K. D., HIGUCHI, W. I. (1997) Iontophoretic transport across a synthetic membrane and human epidermal membrane: a study of the effect of permeant charge. J. Pharm. Sci. 86: 680-689
- LIAN, G., CHEN, L., HAN, L. (2008) An evaluation of mathematical models for predicting skin permeability. J Pharm Sci 97: 584-98
- LIU, P., HIGUCHI, W. I., GHANEM, A. H., GOOD, W. R. (1994) Transport of beta-estradiol in freshly excised human skin in vitro: diffusion and metabolism in each skin layer. Pharm Res 11: 1777-84
- LIU P, H. W., GHANEM AH, KURIHARA-BERGSTROM T, GOOD WR. (1992) Assessing the influence of ethanol on simultaneous diffusion and metabolism of beta-estradiol in hairless mouse skin for the 'asymmetric' situation in vitro. International Journal of Pharmaceutics 78: 123-36
- LUO, W., MEDREK, S., MISRA, J., NOHYNEK, G. (2007) Predicting human skin absorption of chemicals: development of a novel quantitative structure activity relationship. Toxicol Ind Health 23: 39-45

- MAGNUSSON, B., PUGH, W., ROBERTS, M. (2004a) Simple rules defining the potential of compounds for transdermal delivery or toxicity. Pharm Res 21: 1047-54
- MAGNUSSON, B., ANISSIMOV, Y., CROSS, S., ROBERTS, M. (2004b) Molecular size as the main determinant of solute maximum flux across the skin. J Invest Dermatol 122: 993-9
- MANABE, E., NUMAJIRI, S., SUGIBAYASHI, K., MORIMOTO, Y. (2000) Analysis of skin permeation-enhancing mechanism of iontophoresis using hydrodynamic pore theory. J. Control. Rel. 66: 149-158
- MARRINK, S., BERENDSEN, H. (1994) Simulation of water transport through a lipid membrane. JOURNAL OF PHYSICAL CHEMISTRY 19: 4155-4168
- MCCARLEY, K., BUNGE, A. (1998) Physiologically relevant one-compartment pharmacokinetic models for skin. 1. Development Of models. J Pharm Sci 87: 1264
- MCCARLEY, K., BUNGE, A. (2000) Physiologically relevant two-compartment pharmacokinetic models for skin. J Pharm Sci 89: 1212-35
- MCCARLEY, K., BUNGE, A. (2001) Pharmacokinetic models of dermal absorption. J Pharm Sci 90: 1699-719
- MCKONE, T. E., HOWD, R.A. (1992) Estimating dermal uptake of nonionic organic chemicals from water and soil: I. Unified fugacity-based models for risk assessments. Risk Anal. 12: 543-557
- MEIDAN, V. M., BONNER, M. C., MICHNIAK, B. B. (2005) Transfollicular drug delivery--is it a reality? Int J Pharm 306: 1-14
- MICHAELS, A. S., CHANDRASEKARAN, S. K., SHAW, J. E. (1975) Drug permeation through human skin: theory and in vitro experimental measurement. American Institute of Chemical Engineering Journal 21: 985-996
- MITRAGOTRI, S. (2002) A theoretical analysis of permeation of small hydrophobic solutes across the stratum corneum based on Scaled Particle Theory. J Pharm Sci 91: 744-52
- MITRAGOTRI, S. (2003a) Modeling skin permeability to hydrophilic and hydrophobic solutes based on four permeation pathways. J Control Release 86: 69-92
- MITRAGOTRI, S. (2003b) Modeling skin permeability to hydrophilic and hydrophobic solutes based on four permeation pathways. J Control Release. 86: 69-92
- MITRAGOTRI, S., JOHNSON, M. E., BLANKSCHTEIN, D., LANGER, R. (1999) An analysis of the size selectivity of solute partitioning, diffusion, and permeation across lipid bilayers. Biophys J 77: 1268-83
- MORIMOTO, Y., HATANAKA, T., SUGIBAYASHI, K., OMIYA, H. (1992) Prediction of skin permeability of drugs: comparison of human and hairless rat skin. J Pharm Pharmacol 44: 634-9
- MOSS, G., CRONIN, M. (2002) Quantitative structure-permeability relationships for percutaneous absorption: re-analysis of steroid data. Int J Pharm 238: 105-9
- MUELLER, B., ANISSIMOV, Y. G., ROBERTS, M. S. (2003) Unexpected Clobetasol Propionate Profile in Human Stratum Corneum after Topical Application In Vitro. Pharm Res 20: 1835-1837
- NAEGEL, A., HEISIG, M., WITTUM, G. (2009) A comparison of two- and three-dimensional models for the simulation of the permeability of human stratum corneum. European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics . 72: 332-338
- NAEGEL, A., HANSEN, S., NEWMANN, D., LEHR, C.-M., SCHAEFER, U. F., WITTUM, G., HEISIG, M. (2008) In-silico model of skin penetration based on experimentally determined input parameters. Part II: Mathematicalmodelling of in-vitro diffusion experiments.

Identification f critical input paramters. European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics 68: 368-379

- NEELY, B., MADIHALLY, S., ROBINSON, R. J., GASEM, K. (2009) Nonlinear quantitative structureproperty relationship modeling of skin permeation coefficient. J Pharm Sci 98: 4069-84
- NEUMANN, D., KOHLBACHER, O., MERKWIRTH, C., LENGAUER, T. (2006) A fully computational model for predicting percutaneous drug absorption. J Chem Inf Model 46: 424-9
- NIOSH. (2009) In: Current Intelligence Bulletin 61: A Strategy for Assigning New NIOSH Skin Notations
- NITSCHE, J., WANG, T., KASTING, G. (2006a) A two-phase analysis of solute partitioning into the stratum corneum. J Pharm Sci 95: 649-66
- NITSCHE, J. M., WANG, T.-F., KASTING, G. B. (2006b) A two-phase analysis of solute partitioning into the stratum corneum. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences 95: 649-666
- NORMAN, A., KISSEL, J., SHIRAI, J., SMITH, J., STUMBAUGH, K., BUNGE, A. (2008) Effect of PBPK model structure on interpretation of in vivo human aqueous dermal exposure trials. Toxicol Sci 104: 210-7
- NOTMAN, R., NORO, M., ANWAR, J. (2007a) Interaction of oleic acid with dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine (DPPC) bilayers simulated by molecular dynamics. J Phys Chem B 111: 12748-55
- NOTMAN, R., DEN OTTER, W., NORO, M., BRIELS, W., ANWAR, J. (2007b) The permeability enhancing mechanism of DMSO in ceramide bilayers simulated by molecular dynamics. Biophys J 93: 2056-68
- NOTMAN, R., ANWAR, J., BRIELS, W., NORO, M., DEN OTTER, W. (2008) Simulations of skin barrier function: free energies of hydrophobic and hydrophilic transmembrane pores in ceramide bilayers. Biophys J 95: 4763-71
- PECK, K., GHANEM, A., HIGUCHI, W. (1994a) Hindered Diffusion of Polar Molecules through and Effective Pore Radii Estimates of Intact and Ethanol Treated Human Epidermal Membrane. Pharm. Res.: 1306-1314
- PECK, K. D., GHANEM, A. H., HIGUCHI, W. I. (1994b) Hindered diffusion of polar molecules through and effective pore radii estimates of intact and ethanol treated human epidermal membrane. Pharm Res 11: 1306-14
- PIKAL, M. J. (1990) Transport mechanisms in iontophoresis: I. A theoretical model for the electroosmotic flow on flux enhancement in transdermal iontophoresis. Pharm. Res. 7: 118-126
- PIROT, F., KALIA, Y. N., STINCHCOMB, A. L., KEATING, G., BUNGE, A., GUY, R. H. (1997) Characterization of the permeability barrier of human skin in vivo. Proceedings Of the National Academy Of Sciences Of the United States Of America 94: 1562-1567
- POLAT, B. E., SETO, J. E., BLANKSCHTEIN, D., LANGER, R. (2010) Application of the aqueous porous pathway model to quantify the effect of sodium lauryl sulfate on ultrasound-induced skin structural perturbation. J Pharm Sci
- POLAT, B. E., FIGUEROA, P. L., BLANKSCHTEIN, D., LANGER, R. (2011) Transport pathways and enhancement mechanisms within localized and non-localized transport regions in skin treated with low-frequency sonophoresis and sodium lauryl sulfate. J Pharm Sci 100: 512-29
- POTTS, R., MAK, V., GUY, R., FRANCOEUR, M. (1991) Strategies to enhance permeability via stratum corneum lipid pathways. Adv Lipid Res 24: 173-210
- POTTS, R. O., GUY, R. H. (1992) Predicting skin permeability. Pharm Res 9: 663-9

- POTTS, R. O., GUY, R. H. (1995) A predictive algorithm for skin permeability: the effects of molecular size and hydrogen bond activity. Pharm Res 12: 1628-33
- PRAUSNITZ, M., LANGER, R. (2008) Transdermal drug delivery. Nat Biotechnol 26: 1261-8
- PRESS, W. H., TEUKOLSKY, S. A., VETTERLING, W. T., FLANNERY, B. P. (1992) Numerical Recipes in Fortran 77. The Art of Scientific Computing. Cambridge University Press, New York
- RAYKAR, P., FUNG, M., ANDERSON, B. (1988) The role of protein and lipid domains in the uptake of solutes by human stratum corneum. Pharm Res 5: 140-50
- REDDY, M., MCCARLEY, K., BUNGE, A. (1998) Physiologically relevant one-compartment pharmacokinetic models for skin. 2. Comparison of models when combined with a systemic pharmacokinetic model. J Pharm Sci 87: 482-90
- REDDY, M. B., GUY, R. H., BUNGE, A. L. (2000) Does epidermal turnover reduce percutaneous penetration? Pharm Res 17: 1414-9
- RIM, J. E., PINSKY, P. M., VAN OSDOL, W. W. (2008) Using the method of homogenization to calculate the effective diffusivity of the stratum corneum with permeable corneocytes. J Biomech 41: 788-96
- RIM, J. E., PINSKY, P.M., VAN OSDOL, W.W. (2005) Finite element modeling of coupled diffusion with partitioning in transdermal drug delivery. Ann. Biomed. Eng. 33: 1422-1438
- ROBERTS, M., ANISSIMOV, Y. (2005) Mathematical models in percutaneous absorption Percutaneous Absorption. Marcel Dekker, pp 1-44
- ROBERTS, M. S., PUGH, W. J., HADGRAFT, J. (1996) Epidermal permeability-penetrant structure relationships. 2: The effect of H-bonding groups in penentrants on their diffusion through the stratum corneum. International Journal of Pharmaceutics 132: 23-32
- ROBERTS, M. S., CROSS, S. E., PELLETT, M. A. (2002) Skin Transport. In: Walters, K. A. (ed.) Dermatological and transdermal formulations. Marcel Dekker, New York, pp 89--195
- ROBERTS MS, A. Y. (2005) Mathematical models in percutaneous absorption Percutaneous Absorption. Marcel Dekker, pp 1-44
- ROBERTS MS, C. S., PELLETT MA. (2002) Skin transport In "Dermatological and Transdermal Formulations. In: Walters, K., Dekker, M. (eds), New York, pp 89-195
- ROTHMAN, S. (1943) The principles of percutaneous absorption. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 28: 1305-1321.
- RUDDY, S., HADZIJA, B. (1992) Iontophoretic Permeability of Polyethylene Glycols through Hairless Rat Skin: Application of Hydrodynamic Theory for Hindered Transport through Liquid Filled Pores. Drug Des. Discovery 8: 207-224
- RUDGLEY, R. I. (1993.) The Alchemy of Culture: Intoxicants in Society. London British Museum Press
- SAFFMAN, P. G., DELBRUCK, M. (1975) Brownian motion in biological membranes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA 72: 3111-3113
- SAHMEL, J., BOENIGER, M., KHUTSEN, J., TEN BERGE, W., FEHRENBACHER, M.C. (2009) Dermal Exposure Modeling. In: Keil, C. B., Simmons, C.E., Anthony, T.R. (ed.) Mathematical Models for Estimating Occupational Exposure to Chemicals. American Industrial Hygiene Association, Fairfax, pp 105-132
- SANGSTER, J. (2010) LOGKOW: A databank of evaluated octanol-water partition coefficients (LogP). Sangster Research Laboratories, pp <u>http://logkow.cisti.nrc.ca/logkow</u>.
- SCHEUPLEIN, R., BLANK, I. (1971a) Permeability of the skin. Physiol Rev 51: 702-47

- SCHEUPLEIN, R., BLANK, I., BRAUNER, G., MACFARLANE, D. (1969) Percutaneous absorption of steroids. J Invest Dermatol 52: 63-70
- SCHEUPLEIN, R. J. (1967) Mechanism of percutaneous absorption II. Transient diffusion and the relative importance of various routes of skin penetration. Journal of Investigative Dermatology 48: 79-88
- SCHEUPLEIN, R. J., BLANK, I. H. (1971b) Permeability of the skin. Physiol Rev 51: 702-47
- SCHEUPLEIN, R. J., ROSS, L. W. (1974) Mechanism of percutaneous absorption. V. Percutaneous absorption of solvent deposited solids. J Invest Dermatol 62: 353-60
- SIMMONIN. (1995) On the Mechanisms of in vitro and in vivo Phonophoresis. J. Control. Rel. 33: 125-141
- SINGH P., R. M. (1993) Dermal And Underlying Tissue Pharmacokinetics Of Salicylic-Acid After Topical Application. J. Pharmacokinet. Biopharm. 21: 337-373
- SOUTHWELL, D., BARRY, B.W., WOODFORD, R. (1994) Variations in permeability of human skin within and between specimens. Int. J. Pharm. 18: 299-309
- SURBER, C., WILHELM, K., HORI, M., MAIBACH, H., GUY, R. (1990a) Optimization of topical therapy: partitioning of drugs into stratum corneum. Pharm Res 7: 1320-4
- SURBER, C., WILHELM, K., MAIBACH, H., HALL, L., GUY, R. (1990b) Partitioning of chemicals into human stratum corneum: implications for risk assessment following dermal exposure. Fundam Appl Toxicol 15: 99-107
- TANG, H., MITRAGOTRI, S., BLANKSCHTEIN, D., LANGER, R. (2001a) Theoretical description of transdermal transport of hydrophilic permeants: application to low-frequency sonophoresis. J Pharm Sci 90: 545-68
- TANG, H., MITRAGOTRI, S., BLANKSCHTEIN, D., LANGER, R. (2001b) Theoretical Description of Transdermal Transprt of Hydrophilic Permeants: Application to Low-Frequency Sonophoresis. J. Pharm. Sci. 90: 543-566
- TEN BERGE, W. QSARs for skin permeation of chemicals. . <u>http://home.planet.nl/~wtberge/qsarperm.html</u>.
- TEZEL, A., SENS, A., MITRAGOTRI, S. (2002) A theoretical analysis of low-frequency sonophoresis: dependence of transdermal transport pathways on frequency and energy density. Pharm. Res. 19: 1841-1846
- TEZEL, A., SENS, A., MITRAGOTRI, S. (2003) A Theoretical Description of Transdermal Transport of Hydrophilic Solutes Induced by Low-Frequency Sonophoresis. J. Pharm. Sci. 92: 381-393
- TIELEMAN, D., MARRINK, S., BERENDSEN, H. (1997) A computer perspective of membranes: molecular dynamics studies of lipid bilayer systems. Biochim Biophys Acta 1331: 235-70
- TREGEAR, R. T. (1966.) The permeability of the mammalian skin to ions. J. Invest. Dermatol. 46: 16-23.
- TREHERNE, J. E. (1956) The permeability of skin to some non-electrolytes. J. Physiol. 133: 171-180.
- VECCHIA, B. E., BUNGE, A. L. (2002a) Skin absorption databases and predictive equations. In: Hadgraft, J., Guy, R. H. (eds) Transdermal Drug Delivery Systems. Marcel Dekker, New York, pp 57-141
- VECCHIA, B. E., BUNGE, A. L. (2002b) Skin absorption databases and predictive equation. In: Hadgraft, J., Guy, R. H. (eds) Transdermal Drug Delivery Systems. Marcel Dekker, New York, pp 57-141

- WALTERS, K., ROBERTS, M. S. (202) The Structure and Function of Skin. In: Walters, K. (ed.) Dermatological and Transdermal Formulations. Marcel Dekker Inc., New York, pp 1-40
- WANG, T.-F., KASTING, G. B., NITSCHE, J. M. (2006a) A multiphase microscopic model for stratum corneum permeability. I. Formulation, solution and illustrative results for representative compounds. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences 95: 620-648
- WANG, T.-F., KASTING, G. B., NITSCHE, J. M. (2007) A multiphase microscopic model for stratum corneum permeability. II. Estimation of physicochemical parameters and application to a large permeability database. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences 96: 3024-3051
- WANG, T. F., KASTING, G. B., NITSCHE, J. M. (2006b) A multiphase microscopic diffusion model for stratum corneum permeability. I. Formulation, solution, and illustrative results for representative compounds. J Pharm Sci 95: 620-48
- XIANG, T., ANDERSON, B. (1994) The relationship between permeant size and permeability in lipid bilayer membranes. J Membr Biol 140: 111-22
- YAMAMOTO, H., LILJESTRAND, H. (2004) Partitioning of selected estrogenic compounds between synthetic membrane vesicles and water: effects of lipid components. Environ Sci Technol 38: 1139-47
- YOSHIDA, N., ROBERTS, M. (1993) Solute Molecular Size and Transdermal Iontophoresis acros Excised Human Skin. J. Control. Rel. 25: 177-195
- YOSHIDA, N. H., ROBERTS, M. S. (1992) Structure-transport relations in transdermal iontophoresis. Adv. Drug Del. Rev. 9: 239-264
- ZHANG, Q., GRICE, J. E., LI, P., JEPPS, O. G., WANG, G. J., ROBERTS, M. S. (2009) Skin solubility determines maximum transepidermal flux for similar size molecules. Pharm Res 26: 1974-85